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Au coeur de votre quotidien ...

Your daily life at heart...
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On behalf of the Board of 
Directors and as Chairman, I am 
pleased to submit herewith the 
audited financial statements of 
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée 
(LMLC), for both the Company 
and the Group.

I am also happy to share an 
overview of the Company’s main 
activities for the financial year 
under review.  

Chairman’s
Review
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OVERVIEW 
The Company performed satisfactorily considering the 
challenging conditions prevailing during the year under 
review. Besides sanitary conditions linked to Covid 
19 and the difficult economic outlook worldwide, 
the financial year was marked by an unprecedented 
increase in the price of commodities, as from 
September 2021, which was further exacerbated by 
the Ukraine / Russia war. Consequently, supply tension 
was felt on the international wheat market.

The partnership we have developed with our main 
suppliers, both for wheat and freight, the extended 
storage capacity of raw materials and our agile 
production ability helped us to successfully manage 
our supply chains, operating in a quasi-stable 
conditions allowing LMLC to honor all its contractual 
agreements. The pertinence of a local mill to ensure 
the food security of the country, in a context of global 
food supply disruption , was once again strongly felt.

The Company milled 144,556 tons of wheat during 
the year under review, for a total production of 
113,256 tons of flour and 28,624 tons of wheat bran, 
thus meeting all our commitments.

On the financial side, despite the critical environment, 
LMLC posted a turnover of Rs 2.6 billion compared 
to that of Rs 2.1 billion with a profit before tax of 
Rs 82 million. This below par performance is mainly 
explained by the decrease in margins as a result of the 
increase in costs of raw materials and freight.
 
SALES 
The State Trading Corporation (STC) launched an 
international tender for 47,000 MT of flour through 
e-Procurement in September 2021. The international 
wheat market was very volatile and unpredictable at 
the time the tender was sent out. Les Moulins de la 
Concorde won the bid and was awarded a contract for 
a total volume of 77,000 tons, representing 100% of 
the country needs for 2022, a responsibility which the 
Company discharged to the satisfaction of STC for the 
first 6 months. The Company supplied the same four 
main types of wheat flour, namely the white wheat 
flour for French-style bread, the Asian- type flour for 
farathas and chapatis, and the two types of brown flour 

intended for brown bread and chapatis, with more or 
less the same proportion as the previous year. 

The local consumption of flour remained stable. 
However, we noted that the household consumption 
of flour is on a decreasing trend after a peak during 
the Covid period. It is also to be noted that since the 
reopening of borders on the 1st of October 2021, the 
consumption in the hospitality sector is picking up.

During the year, the sale of LMLC’s consumer brands, 
“Blédor” and “Les Moulins”, reached 5,096 tons, less 
than the exceptional 6,884 tons of 2020 linked to the 
lockdown consumption pattern and panic buying. 

The animal husbandry sector continues to benefit 
from the supply of fresh bran for its production. A total 
of 28,152 tons were sold during the year, a marginal 
increase over 2021. 

EXPORTS 
Despite the strong competition, flour exports to the 
regional markets increased from 10,104 tons in 2021 
to 11,723 tons in 2022.

Considering the difficult economic conditions 
prevailing in the islands of the Indian Ocean Regions, 
coupled both poor logistic service and reduced direct 
calls to the island destinations, this was a commendable 
achievement.

L’Atelier de la Concorde in Madagascar pursued 
its activities, allowing LMLC to remain close to the 
local bakers. We note, however that our exports to 
Madagascar will face growing competition given the 
advent of a local mill in the country.
 
OPERATIONS 
During the pandemic, the Company operated at a 
slower pace based on a shift re-engineering system, 
to ensure that adequate precautions were taken at 
all times to minimise the risks of Covid 19 spreading 
and maintaining the flourmill operational. However, 
despite all precautions put in place, we noted several 
Covid 19 cases among our employees. Fortunately, 
these cases did not have any negative impact on our 
output. The “Work from Home” was very effective 
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for part of our staff and allowed operations to be 
maintained.

In our quest for continuous improvement and control, 
the Company invested in two IT Systems to enhance 
supply chain optimization and a production software 
for better control and data analysis.
 
The maintenance team benefited this year from 
“Smart glasses”, an IT application that allows a direct 
connection with the suppliers of equipment for instant 
virtual interaction and intervention. The application 
enabled a significant reduction in time for corrective 
measures and also reduced frequency of overseas 
travelling. 
 
On the laboratory side, a new improved “Near Infra-
Red (NIR) Spectrometer” was purchased to carry out 
extended analysis of wheat flour along the production 
process and prior to delivery.

With our planned equipment replacement and 
our strategy to constantly improve technology, the 
Company invested in two major production equipment, 
namely a new palletiser and a new packing machine for 
our small packs. Both will be commissioned and  will be 
operational during 2023.

QUALITY SYSTEMS
LMLC continuously applies the highest-level of 
system operations within a network of internationally 
recognised management systems: ISO9001:2015 
(quality management system), OHSAS18001:2007 
(health and safety management system); 
ISO14001:2015 (environmental management system); 
HACCP (food safety management system) and ISO-
IEC17025:2017 (laboratory analysis management 
system). 

Furthermore, the management systems in place are, 
also being continuously assessed through regular 
reviews and audits performed by LMLC and external 
auditors.

AFTER SALES SERVICE AND TRAINING 
The advisory support of LMLC’s to the industry 
was stopped during the second Covid lockdown as 
technical visits to the 212 bakery operators in Mauritius 

and Rodrigues were once more interrupted for 
sanitary reasons in March 2021. Regular visits resumed 
in March 2022 and our Bakery Specialists were most 
welcomed by the industry, once again. 

The awarding bakery training course resumed only 
in February 2022 after training institutions received 
official authorisation to operate. All apprentices 
successfully sat for their exams in October 2021 with 
very encouraging results.

The non-award training sessions at La Fournée des 
Moulins however, were not reinstated during the 
financial year 2021/2022, as LMLC was still monitoring 
the Covid situation.

PUBLIC OUTREACH 
Fête du Pain 
After two virtual editions, (because of the Covid 
context), la Fête du Pain was held in May 2022, on 
a limited scale. LMLC welcomed and supported the 
initiative of the MITD Hotel School, Sir Gaetan Duval 
to organise competitions for the bakery students of all 
training institutions of Mauritius as well as for pastry 
professionals. Students from La Fournée des Moulins 
performed well, with podium ranking in all three 
competitions, farathas, sandwich making and pastry.

During the event, the Company also sponsored a 
Masterclass by M. Pascal Tepper, “Meilleur Ouvrier de 
France”, who devoted a special training for students of 
La Fournée des Moulins and its alumni. 

In an initiative of solidarity for NGOs, LMLC designed 
a signature bread for the event. LMLC supplied flour 
to all bakeries of Winners, for the production of the 
signature bread. Winners contributed part of the sales 
receipts to a number of NGOs. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
The Human Resources team was fully engaged in 
the fight against Covid 19 to ensure that production 
continued seamlessly. A vaccination campaign for the 
booster dose was made and 73% of the permanent 
employees received their second dose in October 
2021. To ensure continuous production, off site 
standby teams were organised, ready to move in 
production line, in case of infection. 
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The Company conducted an engagement survey 
during the year under review. Accordingly, few 
improvement areas were noted and focus groups 
were organized to identify and implement corrective 
measures.

Negotiations have been ongoing with the trade union 
during the year on the Collective Agreement and an 
agreement will be signed shortly.

Art, culture and sports activities which contribute to 
self-development of employees, were suspended for 
sanitary reasons during the year and resumed with the 
easing of sanitary regulations. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSIVENESS
Sustainability
The Company, fully aware of the climate change impact 
on the environment has implemented a range of pro-
environmental measures. The actions taken, were : 
shift to electric forklifts, renewed support to cleaning 
of the Port with harbor neighbors, dedication to water 
and energy savings and reduction in the consumption 
of paper.

A through survey has been conducted on our energy 
efficiency system and improvement areas have been 
identified. 

The Company has validated a first phase to produce 
Solar energy at a cost exceeding Rs1 million.

Finally, to better manage our impact on climate 
change, we have engaged an international company to 
help us to measure our carbon footprint and to make 
recommendations for reduction of CO2 emissions.

Inclusiveness
The Company carries out its inclusiveness actions 
through the Fondation Solidarité of the Eclosia Group, 
following an approved program. 
 
The Company contributed a total of Rs 2.5M 
towards “Fondation Solidarité” of the Eclosia Group, 
which supports CSR projects providing assistance to 
vulnerable groups. These projects approved by the 

Fondation Solidarité are based on proximity, both by 
location or sector wise. The emphasis of the project is 
on education and empowerment. 

After many years of intensive involvement in the "Pain 
d’Epices Artisanal au miel de Rodrigues", it has been 
decided to focus henceforth on projects on vulnerable 
household in the neighborhood of the Company. 
Hence, the Company works with Future Hope and 
Mouvement pour le Progrès de Roche Bois, both 
in the region. The projects aim respectively to give 
school support and provide extracurricular activities 
to children and to implement organic gardening for 
economic empowerment. 

Furthermore, the Company has provided financial 
support to needy students of St François Xavier RCA 
school during their secondary studies. To-date, more 
than 50 beneficiaries have already graduated. 

ACKNOWLEGMENTS 
Finally, I wish to convey my appreciation to fellow 
Directors for their continuous support during another 
unpredictable and challenging year, especially to 
those who, in addition to their duties of Directors, 
contributed to the Board sub-committees. 

I also wish to recognize the commitment of the 
Management and employees of Les Moulins de 
la Concorde for their dedication, resilience and 
innovative spirit to carry out day after day the 
Company's mission: « To ensure a constant supply 
of fresh and trusted flours, contributing to the Food 
Security of our Nation”. 

Mushtaq Oosman
Chairman
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting the Annual Report of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée together 
with the audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée is the milling of wheat and its main products, 
wheat flour and wheat bran which are sold on the local market and exported to the Indian Ocean Islands 
and other countries. The Company also sells various types of wheat flour in small packs.

The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are as follows:
1. Concordia Investments Ltd - holding of investment.
2. Amigel Ltd - producer of unbaked frozen products.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended June 
30, 2022 is set out on page 59.

DIRECTORATE AT JUNE 30, 2022
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée - The Company Concordia Investments Ltd - Subsidiary
Mr Mushtaq Oosman (Chairman) Mr Cédric de Spéville (Chairman)
Mr Cédric de Spéville Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet
Mr Michel de Spéville, C.B.E. (Alternate: Noël Eynaud) Mr Gérard Boullé
Mr Eric Espitalier-Noël Mr Petrus van Niekerk 
Mr Anwar Joonas (Alternate: Sybrand van Niekerk)
Mr Deonanan Makoond 
Mr Jean-Pierre Montocchio Amigel Ltd - Subsidiary
Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet Mr Gérard Boullé (Chairman)
Mr Petrus van Niekerk (Alternate: Sybrand van Niekerk) Mr Cédric de Spéville
Mrs Aruna Devi Bunwaree Ramsaha
Mrs Su Lin Ong
Mrs Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan

Directors’ remuneration
There was no contract of significance subsisting during the period to which the Company or one of its 
subsidiaries is a party and in which a director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

STATUTORY DISCLOSURES - JUNE 30, 2022

Remuneration and benefits (including bonuses and commissions) received and receivable from the 
Company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

Directors of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée   2022 2021
   Rs000’s Rs000’s
Executive Directors
Full-Time   -  -   
Part-Time    - - 
Non-executive Directors 
Full-Time   -  -
Part-Time ((12) (2021: 14))   3,400  2,283
    3,400   2,283
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the directors of the Company and of the subsidiaries has service contracts with the Company or 
with any of its subsidiaries.

DONATIONS
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
 2022 2021 2022 2021
 Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Charitable donations 253 841 253 841
Political donations - - -    -   
 253 841 253  841 

AUDITOR’S FEES
The fees paid / payable to the auditors for audit services were:
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
 2022 2021 2022 2021
 Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
PwC Mauritius 1,262 1,125 1,150  1,025

The auditors did receive Rs 150,000 for other services for the year ended 2022 and none for 2021.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends of Rs 32.4M (2021: Rs 37.8M) on ordinary shares and Rs 6M (2021: Rs 6M) on preference 
shares have been declared in respect of the current year.  Out of the Rs 6M dividends, Rs 3.9M were 
recognised as finance costs.

Approved by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

Mushtaq Oosman  Deonanan Makoond
Chairman Director

Directors of subsidiaries   2022 2021
   Rs000’s Rs000’s
Executive Directors
Full-Time   - - 
Part-Time   - -
Non-executive Directors
Full-Time   - - 
Part-Time ((4) (2021: 6))   -    -
   - - 
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Les Moulins de la Concorde 
Ltée (“LMLC”) is a Public 
Interest Entity quoted on the 
Development Enterprise Market 
(DEM) of the Stock Exchange of 
Mauritius.

The Board of Directors is fully aware of the principles of 
good governance and guidelines of the “National Code of 
Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016)” (“the Code”) 
and ensures that the principles are followed and applied 
throughout the Company.  The Corporate Governance 
Report hereby explains how the principles are applied at 
LMLC. 

The Statement of Directors Responsibilities and Statement 
of Compliance are on pages 44 and 46 respectively. 

The annual report of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée is 
published in full on the Company’s website www.lmlc.mu.

Corporate
Governance

Report
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GROUP STRUCTURE
The Group Structure of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée at June 30, 2022 was as follows:

The ultimate beneficial owners of LMLC are Mr Michel de Spéville and SFG Trust.

18.29%

8.33%

15.76%

28.49%

100%

100%

29.13%

Les
Moulins
de la
Concorde
Ltée

MANAGEMENT
AND DEVELOPMENT 

COMPANY LTD 

MAURITIUS PORTS 
AUTHORITY

OTHERS

CUSTOS NMI
(PTY) LTD

AMIGEL LTD

LIVESTOCK
FEED LIMITED

CONCORDIA 
INVESTMENTS

LTD 

28.67%

INDIGO HOTELS
& RESORTS LTD
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Shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company
The shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company at June 30, 2022 were:

No. Shareholders Ordinary shares %

1 Livestock Feed Limited 3,146,178 29.13

2 Custos NMI (Pty) Ltd 3,076,964 28.49

3 Management and Development Company Limited  1,976,286 18.29

4 Mauritius Ports Authority  900,000 8.33

Distribution of Shareholding at June 30, 2022
The Company had 2,005 ordinary shareholders as at June 30, 2022, distributed as follows:

No. of Shares No. of Shareholders No. of Shares owned % Shareholding

0 - 500 1,426 248,897 2.30

501 -1 000 284 192,832 1.79

1 001 -5 000 242 491,825 4.56

5 001 - 10 000 26 193,268 1.79

10 001 - 100 000 23 573,750 5.31

100 001 – 1,000 000 1 900,000 8.33

above 1,000,000 3 8,199,428 75.92

 2,005 10,800,000 100
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Common Directors on Shareholder Companies and Subsidiaries
The table below indicates the Directors common to the shareholder companies having more than 5% 
holding in Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée and Directors common to the subsidiaries of the Company:

LMLC: Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée MPA: Mauritius Ports Authority
LFL:   Livestock Feed Limited CIL: Concordia Investments Ltd 
MADCO:   Management and Development CUSTOS: Custos NMI (Pty) Ltd
 Company Limited

 SHAREHOLDERS HAVING SUBSIDIARIES  
 MORE THAN 5%  OF LMLC

DIRECTORS LMLC LFL MADCO CUSTOS MPA CIL AMIGEL LTD

Mushtaq Oosman
(Chairman as from 01.07.2021)  √ - - - - - -
Cédric de Spéville  √ √ √ - - √ √
Michel de Spéville, C.B.E.   √ √ √ - - - -
Pierre Dinan (up to 08.12.2021) √ √ - - - - -
Eric Espitalier-Noël √ √ √ - - - -
Anwar Joonas  √ - - - - - -
Deonanan Makoond √ - - - - - -
Jean-Pierre Montocchio  √ - - - - - -
Heba Capdevilla
Jangeer Khan (as from 02.08.2021) √ - - - - - -
Su Lin Ong √ - - - - - -
Pierre-Yves Pougnet  √ √ √ - - √ -
Aruna Devi Bunwaree Ramsaha  √ - - - - - -
Petrus van Niekerk √ - - √ - √ -

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS       

Noël Eynaud (up to  30.06.2022)
(alternate to Mr. Michel de Spéville) √ √ - - - - -
Benoit Barbeau (up to 11.05.2022)
(alternate to Mrs. Aruna Devi
Bunwaree Ramsaha) √ - - - - - -
Sybrand van Niekerk
(as from 16.02.2022)
(alternate to Mr Petrus van Niekerk) √ - - √ - √ -

DIRECTORS ON
SUBSIDIARIES OF LMLC 

Gérard Boullé - √ - - - √ √
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CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY
The Constitution of the Company is in line with the 
Mauritian Companies Act 2001. 

Shareholders have a pre-emptive right on all new 
shares issued by the Company up to the extent of 
their respective holding in the shares of the Company.

Preference shareholders have the right to “a fixed 
cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of 13% 
per annum on the capital for the time being paid up on 
the said preference shares held by them respectively, 
and all balance, if any, left over out of the profits of 
each year available for dividend and which the Board 
may have decided to distribute by way of dividend 
shall be distributed amongst the holders of both the 
ordinary and preference shares ‘pari passu’ per share, 
the holders of the preference shares being entitled to 
a maximum dividend of 20%”.

The holders of the said preference shares shall be 
entitled, in a winding up, to repayment of capital, in 
priority to the ordinary shares, but shall have no other 
rights in respect of dividend or capital.

The shares of the Company are traded on the 
Development and Enterprise Market and are free 
from any restrictions on ownership.

There is no share option plan in place at the Company.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board
The Board, as the governing body, fully understands 
its role, responsibility and authority in setting the 
direction, the management and control of the 
Company as well as its responsibility in meeting all 
legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted governance structures and 
procedures, which conform to the Company’s internal 
policies as well as current legislations.  

After a selection process led by the Corporate 
Governance Committee and with the 
recommendation of the Board, Mrs Heba Capdevilla 
El Idrissi Jangeer Khan was appointed as Director of 
the Company on 2 August 2021, to fill a vacant seat 

and her appointment was confirmed at the annual 
meeting of shareholders held on 8 December 2021.  
Mrs Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan is categorised 
as an independent director as per criteria set out in 
section 2 of the Companies Act.

Hence, at 30 June 2022, the Board was comprised of 
three Independent Directors and nine Non-Executive 
Directors and one Non-Executive Alternate Director. 

During the year under review, the Board of Directors 
has appointed Mr Mushtaq Oosman, an Independent 
Director, as Chairperson as from 1 July 2021.

The Board acknowledges that gender and diversity are 
recommended by the Code in the board composition, 
nonetheless expertise and skills are regarded as 
prerequisites for appointing a Director.  

The Chairperson heads the Board and is not involved 
in the day-to-day management of the Company.  
The Chairperson meets Mr Julien Vitry Audibert, 
the General Manager of the Company, on a regular 
basis to discuss matters pertaining to the Company 
and devotes sufficient time to his duties and 
responsibilities towards the Company.

Although there are no executive Directors sitting on 
the Board, it is the Board’s view that:
(i)  the active participation of the General Manager 

at all Board meetings and the participation of 
senior executives to sub-committees of the Board 
meet with the spirit of the good governance; 

(ii)  the Board is of an appropriate size and meets the 
Company’s business requirements;

(iii)  its Directors have the requisite skills, experience 
and knowledge to contribute effectively to the 
Company.

The existing Board Charter is aligned with the 
provisions of the National Code of Corporate 
Governance.

The job descriptions of the Chairperson of the 
Board and the Secretary are also available on the 
Company’s website.  The responsibilities of each 
Chairperson of the committees of the Board are 
fully described in the terms of reference, which are 
also published on the Company’s website.  
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Statement of Accountabilities
The Board has approved the statement of 
accountabilities.  The Chairpersons of the Audit 
and Risk Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee report to the Board on the deliberations 
of their respective Committees, and as and when 
necessary, make recommendations to the Board.

The General Manager, who attends board meetings, 
reports on the operations and management of the 
Company to the Board. The accountabilities within 
the Company are disclosed on page 30 of the 
Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD

SHAREHOLDERS

GENERAL
MANAGER

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE

Primary reporting line

Secondary reporting line

INTERNAL
AUDITOR

EXTERNAL
AUDITOR
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee for the financial year ended June 30, 2022 comprised of the 
following members:

Position  Name Status

Chairperson Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet (as from 01.01.2022) Non-Executive
 Mr Pierre Dinan (up to 08.12.2021) Non-Executive
Member Mr Jean-Pierre Montocchio Non-Executive
Member Mr Mushtaq Oosman Independent
Secretary Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd

During the year, the General Manager was invited to attend the meeting of the Corporate Governance 
Committee. 

The terms of reference of the Committee are in summary:
•  to make recommendations to the Board on all corporate governance provisions to be adopted so that 

the Board remains effective and complies with prevailing corporate principles and practices; and
•  to ensure that the disclosure requirements with regard to corporate governance, whether in the annual 

report or other reports on an ongoing basis, are in accordance with the principles of the Code of 
Corporate Governance.

The Terms of Reference of the Corporate Governance Committee were approved by the Board  in 2019 
and were reviewed in 2021.

The Committee met thrice during the year and continued the established programme of monitoring 
governance performance within the Company, leading the board evaluation exercise, addressing the 
composition of the board and the nomination of new directors, and ensuring the Company’s compliance 
with existing legislations and policies.

Remuneration and Nomination
The Corporate Governance Committee assumes the tasks of remuneration and nomination committee 
and makes recommendations to the Board with regard to: (a) Directors and Committee Members’ fees 
and (b) the nomination of Directors.
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Audit and Risk Committee
The members of the Audit and Risk Committee at June 30, 2022 were:

Position  Name Status

Chairperson Mrs Su Lin Ong  Independent
Member Mr Pierre Dinan (up to 08.12.2021) Non-Executive
Member Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet Non-Executive 
Member Mr Anwar Joonas Non-Executive
Member Mr Noël Eynaud (up to 30.06.2022) Non-Executive
Member Mrs Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan Independent
 (as from 02.08.2022)
Secretary Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd

The composition of the Audit and Risk Committee at  June 30, 2022 is equally constituted of two 
independent directors and four non-executive directors, the Board considers that the composition of 
this Committee strikes the right balance of knowledge and expertise and, as a collective body, they can 
scrutinise rigorously the relevant areas under their responsibility.  The Board is satisfied that under the 
Chairmanship of an independent member, the Audit and Risk Committee is discharging its responsibilities 
effectively and efficiently.

The Committee met five times during the year. Careful consideration was devoted to the reports of 
internal auditors and the external auditor as well as the risk management framework. 

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee encompassed the fully owned subsidiaries of 
LMLC.  

The terms of reference are published on the Company’s website.

The Company’s results after each quarter were meticulously analysed and the performance of the 
enterprise scrutinised by the Committee.

The audit findings reports of both the external auditors as well as the internal audit team were received by 
the Committee and Management actions towards implementation of the recommendations made were  
closely followed and monitored to ensure satisfactory closure. 

The Committee fulfilled the following duties during the year:
(i) Review the abridged unaudited quarterly statements and the audited financial statements;
(ii)  Receive the report of the findings of the internal auditors for IT and finance and administration and 

obtain assurance that  the risks outlined have been addressed by Management;
(iii)  Receive the report of the Head of Governance, Risk and Compliance on the different audits carried 

out at LMLC and receive assurance that the findings of the audit reports have been addressed by 
Management;

(iv)  Review the risk register of the Company and receive Management assurance that adequate controls 
were in place to monitor the risks;

(v)  Meet with the external auditors and Management on the findings raised in the Management Letter.
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THE DIRECTORS
Except for Messrs Petrus van Niekerk and Sybrand van Niekerk who are residents of South Africa, all the 
other Directors of the Company are residents of Mauritius.

The Directors confirm that they have followed the principles set out in the DEM Rules on restrictions on 
dealings by the Directors. 

None of the Directors have traded in the shares of the Company during the year under review.

No Directors   Direct Indirect Number of
    Shareholding Shareholding other
    in LMLC in LMLC Directorships
    % % in
      Listed Companies

    Ord Pref Ord Pref

1 Mr Mushtaq Oosman
 (Chairman as from 01.07.21) - √ - - - - 6
2 Mr Cédric de Spéville √ - - - 0.270 - 4
3 Mr Michel de Spéville, C.B.E √ - 0.002 0.008 21.100 - 3
4 Mr Pierre Dinan (up to 08.12.21) √ - - - - - 1
5 Mr Eric Espitalier-Noël √ - - - 1.328 - 7
6 Mr Anwar Joonas √ - 0.030 0.070 - - -
7 Mr Deonanan Makoond √ - - - - - 2
8 Mr Jean-Pierre Montocchio √ - - - - - 7
9 Mrs Su Lin Ong  - √ - - - - 2
10 Mrs Heba Capdevila
 Jangeer Khan - √ - - - - -
11 Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet √ - 0.071 0.023 - - 3
12 Mrs Aruna Devi Bunwaree Ramsaha √ - - - - - -
13 Mr Petrus van Niekerk √ - - - 28.490 0.781 -
 
ALTERNATE DIRECTORS

1 Mr Noël Eynaud (alternate to

 Mr Michel de Spéville)
 (up to 30.06.2022) √ - - - 0.039 0.483 2
2 Mr Benoit Barbeau 
 (alternate to Mrs Aruna Devi
 Bunwaree Ramsaha)
 (up to 11.05.22) √ - - - - - -
3 Mr Sybrand van Niekerk
 (alternate to Mr Petrus
 van Niekerk) √ - - - 5.690 0.160 -
 (as from 16.02.22)
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Directors’ Profile

Mushtaq Oosman (Chairman as from 01.07.2022)

Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Mr Mushtaq Oosman has over 
30 years professional experience in audit and financial advice, with a diversified portfolio of clients in 
sectors such as banking, insurance, manufacturing, sugar companies, the hospitality industry, betting 
operator, textiles and trading.  He trained and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Sinclairs in the 
UK. He joined Roger de Chazal and Partners (part of the team of Price Waterhouse) in 1988 in Mauritius, 
serving as a partner from 1991. Primarily as an Assurance Partner, he was also responsible for Business 
Recovery Services as well as the Chief Operating Partner for Mauritius. He has served on the Africa 
Central Governance Board and is well versed with the working and responsibilities of board governance. 
He retired from PwC in 2015 and has formed his own Insolvency Practice.
Directorships in listed companies:  ENL Limited, The Mauritius Union Assurance CY Ltd, Automatic 
Systems Ltd, United Docks Ltd, PIM Ltd and Sun Ltd.

Cédric de Spéville 

Born in 1979, Mr Cédric de Spéville holds a Master in Economics from the Sorbonne University (Paris) 
in 2001, an MSc in Accounting and Finance from the London School of Economics (2003) and obtained 
a Master in Business Administration from Columbia Business School (New York) (2007). He has been 
a Consultant for COFINTER in Paris from 2002 to 2003 and joined Eclosia Group in 2003. In February 
2009, he was appointed Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Executive Officer in January 2013. He 
is Director on various companies of the Eclosia Group, and is a past President of the Mauritius Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry (2011- 2013) and of Business Mauritius (2017-2019).  He was appointed to the 
Board of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée on April 22, 2009. 
Directorships in listed companies: Livestock Feed Limited, Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd, Oceanarium 
(Mauriitus) Ltd and Mauritius Freeport Development Co Ltd. 

Michel de Spéville, C.B.E.

Founder President of the Eclosia Group.  Founder and Senator of the “Jeune Chambre Economique 
de l’Ile Maurice”.  Elevated to the rank of “Commander of the Order of the British Empire” (C.B.E). 
Honorary Citizen of Moka-Flacq District of Mauritius. “Honorary Fellow Agribusiness”, University of 
Mauritius.  Elevated to the rank of “Chevalier de l’Ordre du Mérite de Madagascar”.  Elevated to the 
rank of “Chevalier de la Légion d’honneur de France”.  Chairman and member of the Board of various 
companies of the Eclosia Group. Former President of the Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
and former President of “L’Institut de la Francophonie pour l’Entrepreneuriat” (IFE).
Directorships in listed companies: Livestock Feed Limited, Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd and Oceanarium 
(Mauritius) Ltd.

Eric Espitalier-Noël

Holds a Bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences and an MBA. Mr Eric Espitalier-Noël previously worked with 
De Chazal du Mée & Co, Chartered Accountants in Mauritius. He joined the ENL Group in 1986 and is 
currently the Chief Executive Officer of ENL Commercial Limited. Mr Espitalier-Noel has an extensive 
experience in the commercial and hospitality sectors being a board member of various companies 
evolving in those sectors. He was first appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée in 2006.
Directorships in listed companies: Automatic Systems Ltd, ENL Limited, Livestock Feed Limited, Rogers 
and Company Limited, Swan Life Ltd, Swan General Ltd and Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd (alternate Director).
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Directors’ Profile (cont'd)

Anwar Joonas

Holder of B. Com., Executive Chairman of Joonas & Co Ltd and Managing Director of Galvabond Ltd. He 
was appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltée on January 18, 1993 as alternate Director 
to Mr. Mohammed Issack Joonas and appointed Director on April 22, 2009.  Mr. A. Joonas was appointed 
as Director of Mauritius Portland Cement Ltd, thereafter the Board of Lafarge (Mauritius) Cement Ltd 
since 2001. Founder Chairman of Business Mauritius CSR Fund, Former  Chairman of Mauritius Employers 
Federation, Former Council Member of the MCCI. Former Member JEC (Joint Economic Council). 
Charter Member and Past President of the Rotary Club of Quatre Bornes.

Deonanan Makoond

Holder of MSC, Tourism Planning & B.A (Hons) in Economics. Mr Deonanan (Raj) Makoond is the 
Program Director of Eclosia Group.  He was the Chief Executive Officer of Business Mauritius, the 
coordinating body of the Mauritius private sector. (2016-2018).  Prior to joining Business Mauritius, he 
was Director of the Joint Economic Council (1994-2015), Deputy Secretary-General of the Mauritius 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry (1991-1994) and Senior Economist at the Ministry of Economic 
Planning and Development (1975-1991).
Mr Makoond is the Chairperson of the University of Technology of Mauritius (UTM) and Chairperson 
of C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd’s Corporate Governance, Ethics, Remuneration and Nomination Committee.
He co-chaired a number of joint Government/Private Sector Committees, Task Force and Working 
Groups, namely the joint Public Private Business Facilitation Task Force, the Steering Committee on Global 
Financial Crisis, the Textile Emergency Support Team, the National Computer Proficiency Programme, the 
Collaborative Research and Innovative Grant Scheme and the National Skills Development Programme.
Mr. Makoond was a Director of the European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM), a 
Member of the Board of Investment (2001-2014), Statistics Mauritius (2014-2018), Mauritius Africa Fund 
(2014-2018) and Financial Services Commission (2001-2015).
He was appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée on May 3, 2007. 
Directorship in listed companies: C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd and Rogers and Co Ltd.

Jean-Pierre Montocchio 

Born in 1963, Mr Jean-Pierre Montocchio was appointed notary public in Mauritius in 1990. He 
participated in the National Committee on Corporate Governance as a member of the Board of Directors’ 
Sub-Committee. He is a director of a number of listed companies in Mauritius.
Directorships in listed companies: Fincorp Investment Ltd (Chairman), New Mauritius Hotels Ltd, Rogers 
Co. Ltd (Chairman), ENL Limited, Semaris Ltd, Happy World Property Ltd and Swan Forex Ltd.
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Su Lin Ong 

Born in 1960, Mrs Su Lin Ong is holder of a BA (Hons) Economics from UK, Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and Fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors. 
Mrs Su Lin Ong has 37 years of professional experience in Audit and Advisory. She trained as a Chartered 
Accountant in London with Deloitte, Haskins & Sells where she worked for 8 years before joining Coopers 
& Lybrand (which subsequently became PwC) in Mauritius as a Partner in the Consulting Division. She 
has also been a Partner in DCDM Consulting (local partner of Accenture), specialising in digitalisation 
and systems integration and a Director at KPMG Advisory Services, specialising in internal audit and 
risk management. She was the Chairperson of the CSR committee and is a past President of the Society 
of Chartered Accountants in Mauritius. Throughout her career, she has worked with major local and 
international companies across industries. Since November 2019, she sits as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on several Boards in Mauritius.  
Directorships in listed companies: Tropical Paradise Co Ltd and Mauritius Oil Refineries Ltd.

Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan (as from 02.08.2021)

Mrs Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan is the Chief Operating Officer (COO) of the CEMENTIS Group and 
the Managing Director of Cementis (Mauritius).
She studied in the UK for both her undergraduate and master’s degrees. She has 30 years of professional 
and international experience in business, including manufacturing, sales and marketing, human resources, 
strategy, and development, in both private and public sector organisations. 
Mrs Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan speaks five languages and had the amazing opportunity to live in and 
work in Europe, UK, the Middle East and South America, before settling in Mauritius in 1995.
Her professional industry experience includes Textile, Retail, BPO Industries, Manufacturing, Marine 
Activities, Logistics and distribution, amongst others. 
She has made Mauritius her home for now 26 years. She strongly believes in the potential of regional 
economic development through partnerships and engaging in initiatives which will encourage a better 
understanding between the islands on their local realities, culture and socio-political environment.
Heba is passionate about bringing her bit to the development of women and children through her 
engagement in Soroptimist International Port Louis as president (NGO) and the MIOD’s Women 
Directors Forum. 
She is a fellow member of the Mauritius Institute of Directors, a Council member of Mauritius Export 
Association, and an Independent Board Director of Les Moulins de La Concorde since 2 August 2021.

Pierre-Yves Pougnet 

Mr Pierre Yves Pougnet, an accountant by profession, was appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de la 
Concorde Ltée on November 22, 1987. He is also a member of both the Corporate Governance Committee 
and the Audit and Risk Committee.  Mr Pierre-Yves Pougnet  started his career with an audit firm. In 1975, 
he joined the Eclosia Group where he occupied executive functions, amongst which, Managing Director 
of Panagora Marketing and subsequently Managing Director of Avipro Ltd (ex-Food and Allied Industries 
Ltd). He was the Vice Chairman of the Eclosia Group when he retired in 2015.
Directorships in listed companies: P.O.L.I.C.Y. Limited, Tropical Paradise Co. Ltd and Livestock Feed Limited.
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Directors’ Profile (cont'd)

Aruna Devi Bunwaree Ramsaha

Deputy Director-General of the Mauritius Ports Authority, Mrs. Bunwaree Ramsaha is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (FCCA) and is holder of an MBA. Mrs. Bunwaree Ramsaha 
also sits on the board of Froid des Mascareignes and Transfroid Ltée and is an alternate Director on the 
board of Mauritius Cargo Community Services Ltd.

Petrus Johannes van Niekerk

Founder and Director of a Group of grain milling and feed manufacturing companies operating in 
southern Africa. Mr van Niekerk was appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltée on 
December 2, 1987.

Alternate Directors
Noël Eynaud (Alternate to Michel de Spéville) (up to 30.06.2022)

Accountant by profession, Mr Noël Eynaud is a Director of Management and Development Company 
Limited.  He was appointed to the Board of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltée on June 30, 1993 and is a 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee. Mr. Eynaud is an alternate Director on the Board of Livestock 
Feed Limited and Tropical Paradise Co Ltd.

Sybrand van Niekerk (Alternate to Petrus van Niekerk) (as from 16.02.2022)

Mr Sybrand van Niekerk holds a B.Com (Honours) in Accounting, and qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1999. His experience since includes commodity procurement, general management, 
business development, and corporate finance at various grain milling and feed manufacturing companies 
in southern Africa. His current responsibilities are investment management and evaluating new business 
opportunities. He holds directorships in a number of Group companies in southern Africa.

Directors’ appointment procedures 
Directors are elected to serve on the Board at the 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  However, should 
a casual vacancy arise, the Board has the authority 
to appoint a Director to hold office until the next 
Annual Meeting.

The Constitution of the Company provides an 
annual rotation of Directors whereby one-third of 
the Directors longest in office shall retire and offer 
themselves for re-election at the annual meeting of 
shareholders.  Consequently, every Director has a 
three-year term of office on the Board.

Messrs Michel de Spéville, Pierre-Yves Pougnet, 
Petrus van Niekerk, Deonanan Makoond and Anwar 
Joonas  who are above 70 years of age, will retire 
at the annual meeting to be held on December 14, 
2022.  These Directors will offer themselves for re-

election at the annual meeting in accordance with 
Section 138 (6) of the Companies Act.

A procedure for the appointment of Directors  has 
been adopted and serves as a guidance for the 
appointment of Directors on the Board of the 
Company.  The Corporate Governance Committee, in 
its role as Nomination Committee, leads the process 
and screens candidates based on the requirements of 
the position, the skills and expertise needed.  

Once a candidate is selected, the Corporate 
Governance Committee makes its recommendation 
to the Board, who will decide whether to propose 
to the shareholders the appointment of the selected 
candidate.  

A letter outlining the terms of his appointment is 
remitted to each Director who has been re-elected at 
the Annual Meeting.
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Board information
Relevant board information are provided to the 
Board members in a timely manner to give them 
adequate time to study the documents provided 
on the matters that will be discussed at the 
meetings and make appropriate decisions.

Where necessary and subject to the formal 
approval of the Chairperson, Directors may have 
access to independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities.
 
A Directors’ and Officers’ Liability cover is in place 
for Directors and senior officers of the Company.

Board Evaluation
The performance of the Board is evaluated every 
two years and is led by the Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Company Secretary.

A  board evaluation exercise was held during the 
year and the results of the evaluation was received 
by the Corporate Governance Committee.  On 
overall, the board members were satisfied with the 
existing governance processes.  Board members 
also had the opportunity to make suggestions for 
improving the governance and performance of 
the Board.  Due consideration was given to the 
suggestions received and these will put in place 
wherever possible.  

Induction and orientation
A formal induction plan is in place and an 
induction pack is remitted to a newly appointed 
Director and comprises among others the Board 
Charter, Directors’ Code of Ethics, minutes of 
last three board meetings prior to the Director’s 
appointment, the financial statements, the 
mission statement of the Company, and relevant 
legislations which shall enable him to understand 
the duties and obligations of being a Director.

The responsibility of the induction process lies 
with the Chairperson and the latter delegates to 
the General Manager and the Management staff 
to accompany newly appointed Directors in their 
introduction to the Company and its business 
operations.

Professional development
The Company provides the opportunity to 
its Directors to develop their knowledge and 
skills through workshops and development 
programmes delivered mostly by the Mauritius 
Institute of Directors, of which the Eclosia Group 
is a founder patron.  The Head of Governance, 
Risk and Compliance of Eclosia Group through the 
Company Secretary, screens the workshops and 
training programmes offered and recommend to 
Directors those which would be relevant and of 
interest for the Directors to attend.

In performing their role, the company secretaries 
of Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd, undertake 
a minimum of 21 hours training and skills 
development annually as part of their qualifying as 
Chartered Secretaries of the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators of United Kingdom.  
The company secretaries are also members of 
the Mauritius Institute of Directors and the ICSA 
Mauritius Branch.

Succession planning
A succession plan has been set up for the senior 
management positions whose expertise in the 
milling operations are fundamental to the running 
of the mill.  The succession plan has been set up 
to maintain continuity and sustainability of the 
enterprise.

The identification of new directors, in order to 
keep a balance of skills and expertise at the level 
of the Board, is the responsibility of the Corporate 
Governance Committee, which reviews the 
composition of the Board on a regular basis.

Directors’ duties
Directors are aware of their legal duties which 
have been communicated to them through the 
induction pack.  The duties of Directors are also 
outlined in their letter of appointment as well as in 
the Board Charter.

All Directors are aware of their duty to make 
a formal declaration of their interests to the 
Company as required under the Securities Act and 
they do notify the Company in the event of any 
change in their interests.
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A calendar of closed periods is communicated to 
the Directors at the start of every financial year and 
Directors are kept updated on the close periods 
during the course of the year.

Code of ethics
All employees of the Company formally adhere to 
the Code of Ethics of LMLC, which Code upholds 
the strong moral values, which are an integral part 
of the LMLC Group’s spirit. 

The Directors are guided by the Director’s Code of 
Ethics, which has been adopted by the Board and 
is published on the Company’s website. The Board 
regularly monitors and evaluates compliance with 
its code of ethics.

Conflicts of interest
The Company Secretary maintains an interest 
register for the Members of the Board and senior 
officers of the Company and it is available for 
consultation by shareholders upon written request 
to the Company Secretary.

Directors and senior officers have the responsibility 
to notify of any change in their declaration of 
interests to the Company Secretary who will 
ensure that the interest register is kept updated.

The Company’s Constitution provides that a 
Director who has an interest in a transaction shall 
declare forthwith to the Company his interest 
and he shall not participate in the vote on the 
transaction.

Whenever a Director finds himself in a state of 
conflict or potential conflict of interest pertaining 
to a transaction to be put for decision before the 
Board, the Director shall retire from the meeting 
when the matter is brought for discussion and shall 
not participate in the discussions nor vote on the 
matter.

The Board Charter guides Directors in situations 
where they find themselves in a state of conflict 
or potential conflict or they are a related party in a 
transaction with the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration for Members of the Board, Audit and Risk and Corporate Governance Committees 
were reviewed during the year and the revised annal retainer fees became applicable as from July 1, 2021 
and payment was spread on a monthly basis. The fees paid during the year to the Directors at June 30, 
2022 were as follows:

Type of meeting  Chairperson Directors
  Annual Retainer Meeting Fee Annual Retainer Meeting Fee

  Rs Rs Rs Rs
Board  200,000 20,000 100,000 20,000
Audit and Risk Committee 70,000 10,000 50,000 10,000
Corporate Governance Committee 50,000 10,000 35,000 10,000
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The attendance of the Directors and Committee Members and their remuneration for the financial year 
ended June 30, 2022 were as follows:

No fee was paid to the Directors sitting on the subsidiary companies Concordia Investments Ltd and 
Amigel Ltd, the latter having stopped its operations.

The Directors have not received remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses associated with 
the Company’s performance.

STATEMENT OF REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY 
The Company’s philosophy concerning remuneration is to offer a competitive package that will 
attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees of the highest caliber and recognise value-added 
performance, whilst taking into account its own financial position.

In that respect, the remuneration offered to each category of jobs within the Company has been 
benchmarked and aligned with the current market rate.

The Directors’ fees are also benchmarked on market norms and reviewed on a regular basis by the Board 
upon recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee.

No Directors Board Board Audit and Audit and Corporate Corporate
  Attendance Fees Risk Risk Governance Governance
    Committee Committee Committee Committee
    Attendance Fees Attendance Fees
  Out of  Out of  Out of
  6 Meetings  5 Meetings  3 Meetings
  held Rs. held Rs. held Rs.

1 Mushtaq Oosman
 (Chairman as from 01.07.21) 6/6 320,000   3/3 65,000
2 Cédric de Spéville  6/6 220,000 - - - -
3 Michel de Spéville, CBE 5/6 200,000 - - - -
4 Pierre Dinan (up to 08.12.21) 2/6 90,000 3/5 55,000 2/3 45,000
5 Eric Espitalier-Noël 4/6 180,000 - - - -
6 Anwar Joonas  6/6 220,000 5/5 100,000 - -
7 Deonanan Makoond 5/6 200,000 - - - -
8 Jean-Pierre Montocchio 4/6 180,000 - - 3/3 65,000
9 Su Lin Ong 6/6 220,000 5/5 120,000 - -
10 Heba Capdevila Jangeer Khan
 (as from 02.08.21) 5/6 200,000 2/5 70,000  
11 Pierre-Yves Pougnet 5/6 200,000 5/5 100,000 3/3 80,000
12 Petrus van Niekerk 4/6 180,000 - - - -
13 Aruna Devi Bunwaree Ramsaha 6/6 220,000 - - - -
 
 Alternate Directors     

1 Noël Eynaud 0/6 - 3/5 80,000 - -
2 Sybrand van Niekerk
 (as from 16.02.22) 1/6 20,000 - - - -
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THE ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The members of the senior management team do not hold shares in the Company and are not entitled 
nor granted any special right to subscribe to shares of the Company. Mr Jimmy Pierrelouis has resigned 
effective as from 30 September 2022 and Mrs Diane Lacide will act in the interim.

Julien Audibert

Geerish 
HookoomsingRobert SoderJimmy

Pierrelouis Aslam Bakady

General Manager

Head of Organizational 
Excellence

Production Manager
Departmental Heads

Accountant
Acccounts Officers

Accounts Clerks

Maintenance Officers
Maintenance Technicians

Quality/QSHE Officers
Laboratory Technicians

Human Resource Officers
Technical Officers/

Training Officers
Procurement Officers 

Head Millers
Millers

Finance Manager Maintenance Manager
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MANAGERS Title

Julien Vitry Audibert General Manager

Jimmy Pierrelouis  Finance
(up to 30.09.2022) Manager

Robert Soder Production
  Manager

Aslam Bakady Maintenance
  Manager

Geerish Hookoomsing Head of
  Organisational
  Excllence

Description

Mr Julien Vitry Audibert succeeded to the management of 
the Company as from 1 July 2020.  Mr. Julien Vitry-Audibert is 
holder of a “DUT - Techniques de Commercialisation” obtained 
from the IUT of Aix en Provence and a Master of Science from 
“Ecole Supérieure de Commerce (CERAM)” of Sophia Antipolis, 
France. He was, since 2011, the Chief Executive Officer of 
Freight and Transit Company Limited (FTL).  Mr Vitry-Audibert 
is a Director on the board of FTL. 
 
Employed by Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée since May 2014.  
Mr Pierrelouis holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and 
Finance from the University of Mauritius and is a Fellow Member 
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has 
more than 10 years of broad ranging experience across various 
industries: tobacco, petroleum, audit, printing and stationery; 
both locally and in Africa.

Employed by Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée since October 
2008.  He has worked for the Eclosia Group as Production 
Manager at New Maurifoods Limited for five years. Before 
this, he was Production and Operations Manager in two milling 
operations in Nigeria and in Haiti.  He is a Qualified miller since 
1987 and holds a Diploma as milling technologist since 1993 
from Swiss Milling school.

 Employed by les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée since August 
2015.  Mr. Bakady holds a Bachelor of Engineering in Computer 
Engineering.  He worked as Maintenance Manager at Denim 
des Iles Ltd before joining LMLC.

Mr Geerish Hookoomsing has more than 40 years of 
experience in Human Resources Management.  He started 
his career as a clerk for a legal chamber for 5 years preparing 
briefs in criminal and industrial cases. He thereafter switched 
to people management by joining the textile sector as Assistant 
HR Manager and spent 10 years in that sector.  After the textile 
experience, he shifted to the offshore sector for 3 years and 
thereon to the hospitality sector where he had a rich and 
fruitful career which span over 10 years as Human Resources 
Manager cumulating into the position of the Head of the 
Human Resources Department to a group of hotels.
He joined Panagora Marketing Ltd, a company of Eclosia 
Group, as Head of Human Resources in 2016 before joining 
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée as Head of Organisational 
Excellence in March 2022.
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THE COMPANY SECRETARY
Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd is a corporate body 
which holds the functions of Company Secretary. The 
secretarial work is undertaken by qualified chartered 
company secretaries who are members of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators 
(ICSA) of United Kingdom. 

Board members have access to the company 
secretaries of Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd who 
are assigned the task of guiding the Board in the 
application and implementation of the principles 
of the Code of Corporate Governance as well as 
ensuring that the Board is aware of the statutory 
and regulatory requirements.  The Board is satisfied 
that Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd, through its 
representatives, fulfils satisfactorily its responsibilities 
towards the Board and the Company.

The role and duties of the Company Secretary are 
outlined in its terms of reference.

INFORMATION, INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATION 
SECURITY GOVERNANCE
The Eclosia Group IT Executive Council ("the GIT"), 
supported by three sub-committees, is responsible 
to provide the necessary directions with regards to 
strategy, infrastructure and operations management 
in relation to information, communications and 
technology systems within the Eclosia Group 
including LMLC.

An Information Technology Policies and Procedures 
(“ITPP”) committee has been mandated by the 
GIT to provide guiding principles applicable to the 
management of IT related processes across Group 
Companies in order to:
•  Establish responsibility and accountability for the 

use and maintenance of IT resources of eclosia.
•  Encourage management and staff to maintain an 

appropriate level of awareness, knowledge and 
skill to allow them to leverage IT resources in 
delivering quality service to the clients.

•  Minimise the impact of IT incidents on service 
delivery.

•  Protect the business information and any client 

information within its custody by safeguarding 
their confidentiality and integrity by maintaining 
their availability.

The ITPP manual is reviewed annually by a sub-
committee to accommodate process changes and 
adapt to new technologies. 

Independently, the Group IT Auditor reports to the 
Audit and Risk Committee of each Group Company 
about the level of compliance to the ITPP.

An End User IT Security manual is remitted to all new 
recruits and must be adhered to by all employees 
together with the cybersecurity awareness and 
eLearning programme.

The new Microsoft D365 Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) System aimed at improving business 
operations and the decision-making process is fully 
operational. 

The new ERP system functions well and allows 
enhanced financial and cost controls.  With time, it is 
envisaged that milling performance and supply chain 
operations will improve as a result of the system’s 
configuration.

The high-performance Buhler Mercury MES software 
is working well and phase II is planned for next 
financial year.  Its integration with the D365 ERP will 
be considered in 2022-2023.

There are defined restrictions placed over the rights 
of access to information.

All significant expenditure on information technology 
are approved by the Board.

RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL
Risk Governance
The Board has entrusted to the Audit and Risk 
Committee the responsibility to ensure that 
Management identifies and manages all inherent 
risks on a regular basis and amongst other initiatives, 
by continually updating the Risk Register.
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Management conducted its reviews of the domains 
of finance, production, operations, human resources, 
food quality, information technology, environment, 
security, reputational, compliance, health and safety 
and communication risks during the year. Mitigating 
actions were evaluated and new measures proposed, 
where appropriate. The risk appetite fixed by the 
Board was maintained at the level of Rs 20 Million.

Key Risks facing LMLC
(a)  Strategic and Business Risks
Strategic risks inherent to the Company in the flour 
market, are twofold - a single large client, the State 
Trading Corporation which has an annual flour 
requirement of some two thirds of the production 
output of the enterprise.  The tender process by 
which the STC procures is continually assessed as any 
change may increase the risks in a number of critical 
ways.   In addition, the export market is subject to 
fierce international competition.  Both factors are 
mitigated in various ways but remain a constant 
preoccupation of the management.

(b) Legal and Commercial Risks
Dumped flour on all markets for flour is a reality.  
The existing legislation in Mauritius against dumping 
is no guarantor of an environment free of dumping.  
Nonetheless, the Company monitors competition 
continuously and takes action to counter this 
phenomenon when it occurs.

(c) Information Technology Risks
Access by internet or direct physical intervention 
creates a certain vulnerability of the mill operating 
system.  The Company now has more stability and 
safety with the Mercury Scada as well as additional 
point of controls. LMLC maintains and closely 
monitors service contracts with service providers 
inside and outside of Mauritius to ensure smooth 
running of the IT system. The risks of unauthorised 
access to the Company's information asset and 
internal/external hackers' attack, with the increase 
use of virtual private network by employees working 
at home, have been reviewed and are properly 
managed.

In view of increasing the IT Security knowledge of the 
employees to mitigate the risk of security breach via 

users, E-learning of these IT and cybersecurity topics 
has been initiated at group level.

(d) Human Resource Risks
The scarcity of technical staff in milling in Mauritius 
has engendered procedures for training of the key 
milling personnel, to ensure sustained technical 
performance.  A succession plan has been prepared 
for key positions and the talents were identified. 
They will be trained over the years to become future 
leaders in their field. High-level training at flour mills 
in Switzerland allows technicians to keep abreast of 
developments in milling.  A management contract 
with NMI Group Services (Pty) Ltd which regularly 
performed audits during the past year, also mitigates 
this risk. 

The risk level of civil unrest has been reviewed, and 
the emergency preparedness and response procedure 
have been updated accordingly.

(e) Black Swan Risks
Unforeseen risks can occur for which plans cannot be 
prepared. Events such as the Covid 19 international 
restrictions and Russia-Ukraine war, disrupted sea 
freight services. These have generated several delays 
in freight, lack of containers impacting flour exports, 
substantial supply chain challenges as well as scarcity 
and significant price increase of wheat, packaging 
materials and ingredients on the global market.  
However, the Company is monitoring and adapting 
itself by taking contingency measures to minimise 
these impacts.

(f) Operational, Health, Safety and 
Environmental Risks
There are inherent safety risks in LMLC’s industrial 
activity, but these are mitigated by the highly 
automated process, and the Mercury Scada as well 
as a proactive risk assessment approach based on the 
OHSAS 18001 international standard, which reduces 
such risks to the minimum.  The impact of LMLC’s 
production activities on the wider environment are 
quite limited, the major one being the use of plastic 
packaging for many of the flour and bran products.  
The Company is currently assessing the use of paper 
packaging as a substitute to plastic materials. 
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Being a flour mill, the risk of fire and dust explosion 
is inherent to the operations and is reviewed 
regularly. The emergency preparedness and response 
procedures to mitigate this risk, are regularly tested 
and updated. To further response to this risk, the fire 
alarm system has been upgraded.

(g) Financial Risks
Time-lapse differences between the purchase of raw 
materials and the sale of products give rise to risks 
of exchange rate fluctuations in the financials of the 
Company.  

However, trading in the same currency for purchases 
and sales in either euros or dollars or rupees creates a 
natural hedging and minimises those risks.

Risk Management at LMLC
The risk assessment was reviewed with a new risk 
matrix, aligned with the group risk framework. This 
enabled a clearer assessment of the impact and 
severity of each individual risk. The top-ten risks and 
their corresponding measures were re-assessed and 
updated accordingly.

The Audit and Risk Committee was satisfied with the 
identified measures to effectively mitigate or counter 
risks and that the appropriate action plans were in 
place.

Every year a special Audit and Risk Committee 
meeting is held to assess the risks of the Company 
and to evaluate the Company’s risks management 
process to ensure that it is monitored and is effective.  
This exercise was again carried out during the past 
year with the support of the Governance, Risk and 
Compliance (GRC) section of Eclosia Corporate 
Services Ltd. All financial and non-financial risks 
were analysed and the conclusion was that the risk 
management process was appropriate and was well 
conducted.  

- Business Continuity
The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) to recover 
business operations in the aftermath of a materialised 
risk and to ensure the sustainability of operations was 
in place at LMLC.   Disaster simulations were conducted 
during the past years to test the effectiveness of the 
BCP and the results were satisfactory. 

- Insurance cover
Management annually adjusts its insurance cover to 
meet the changes in plant and equipment values, and 
prices of materials and services.  Competitive rates 
are negotiated through the services of a broker with 
many years of experience and satisfactory cover was 
maintained for the year.  

- Fraud Policy
Clear guidelines on financial policies and procedures 
are in place to minimise the risk of fraud.  These 
procedures are closely monitored by the internal 
audit services of the Company.

- Whistleblowing
At LMLC, all attempts are made to promote 
an environment of honesty and transparency.  
Employees are empowered to whistle-blow in case of 
need. They are at all levels sensitised on procedures 
for whistleblowing through a clear and confidential 
communication system.

Access to bypass LMLC Management and directly 
approach the Chairman of the Board or Eclosia Head 
Office is also provided to all employees.

No issues in this regard were reported during the year.

Internal Control
In addition to the review of the Company’s risks, the 
Audit and Risk committee also reviews the internal 
control system in place at the Company and suggests 
improvements where necessary.

The Board has entrusted the responsibility to report 
on the effectiveness of internal control to the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

Management of the Company follows a formalised 
set of policies and procedures in the fields of Human 
Resources, Finance, IT and industrial production.  The 
principle of continual improvement is at the base 
of all procedures.  Compliance is ensured through a 
comprehensive series of audits performed by auditors 
external to the Company, which include:  
• Internal audits of all operations,
•  External audits of infrastructure, operational and 

financial aspects,
•  Information technology audits,
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•  Client audits from a limited number of long-
standing clients to assure them of process and 
product quality standards.

•  Food safety, quality, environment and health and 
safety management systems audits (as detailed 
below),

•  Technical audits by milling engineers and millers 
concerning yields, efficiencies and machine 
performance,

The “Eclosia Way” is a series of audits that compare 
the Company management to norms established by 
the Eclosia Group.  The system encourages adherence 
to core values as well as initiatives for evaluation and 
improvement against operational benchmarks.

LMLC continues to successfully maintain the five 
internationally recognised management systems 
already in place:
• Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015), 
•  Environmental Management System (ISO 

14001:2015),
•  Food Safety Management System (HACCP),
•  Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series 

(OHSAS 18001:2007).  
•  Testing and calibration norm (ISO/IEC 

17025:2017)

These systems are audited by external local and 
foreign auditors on an annual basis. Some of the 
audits were conducted off-site by videoconference, 
due to Covid-19 travel restrictions.

These systems set out policies to ensure food 
safety, customer care and satisfaction, reliability and 
consistency in production, environment friendly 
processes, safe and healthy working environment 
and conditions, laboratory analysis of raw materials 
and finished products, teamwork and employee 
involvement.  

During the year, the certifications of all the 
management systems were again satisfactorily 
maintained, and certificates obtained.

AUDIT
Internal Auditors
The internal audit service is contracted to Eclosia 

Corporate Services Ltd, which has a team of qualified 
professionals with extensive experience in auditing, 
fraud examination, risk management, food safety, 
industrial efficiencies, information systems security 
and governance. 

The Internal Audit team has an independent appraisal 
function that reviews the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls and the systems that support 
them. This includes controls at both the operational 
and financial levels as well as offering guidance to 
Management in relation to the evaluation of overall 
business risks and actions taken to mitigate such risks.

The Internal Audit Manager reports to the Chairman 
of the Audit and Risk Committee who in turn brings 
to the Board any material issues requiring special 
attention of the Directors.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Internal Auditor, monitors the 
effectiveness of internal controls. Regular and surprise 
audits were performed by the Internal Auditors and 
the findings and recommendations and Management 
responses, were reported to the Committee.

Weaknesses identified by the Internal Auditors 
during their reviews were brought to the attention 
of Management and the Audit and Risk Committee 
formally by way of risk rated structured reports. 
These comprise the results of the current review 
together with updates on the corrective actions taken 
by Management to improve control systems and 
procedures. The purpose, authority and responsibility 
of the Internal Auditors are formally defined in their 
charter.

The Internal Audit team has the authority to access 
and examine all information, both paper-based and 
electronic documents as well as inspect physical 
assets. No complaints were received from the Internal 
Auditor during the year under review with respect to 
restrictions on access to records, management or 
employees of the organisation.

The objectives of the reviews performed by the 
Internal Audit function are to give assurance on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, 
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compliance with applicable laws and regulations as 
well as on the reliability of financial reporting.  The 
areas covered by the internal audit function during 
the year under review include production, stocks, 
compliance with Data Protection Act, purchases, 
payment review and users access rights.  

The Group Internal Audit Manager and the Group IT 
Auditor meet with the Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk Committee once a year without the presence of 
management.

Audit reviews and consultancy services were also 
carried out in other specific areas of expertise such 
as on the security of the premises and the assets of 
the Company by the Group Head of Security, on food 
safety by the Group Quality Systems Business Partner.

External Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), was reconducted 
as auditors of the Company at the annual meeting 
held on 8 December 2021.  They were contracted 
for the annual financial audit, which was conducted 
in a serious and stringent manner.  All internal audit 
reports were taken into consideration and the legal 
requirements on Company practices were closely 
evaluated.

The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the audit plan 
and fees of the external auditor prior to the yearly 
audits. 

The Audit and Risk Committee meets once a year 
with the external auditors to review the Company’s 
financial statements, management and representation 
letters and to assess the effectiveness of the external 
audit process.  The external auditor also has the 
opportunity to meet the members of the Audit and 
Risk Committee without management presence.

Both Management and the Audit and Risk 
Committee recognized that the services of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers during the year have been 
satisfactory.

The Audit and Risk Committee ensures that the 
external auditors apply appropriate safeguards, such 
as different engagement partners and segregated 
teams, when non audit services are provided by the 
external auditors.

Tax computation and tax compliance services were 
outsourced to a specialized Business Unit of PwC, for 
a fee of Rs 115,500.
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SHARE PRICE INFORMATION

MUR
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company’s policy is to pay dividend based on its 
current profitability and the liquidity requirements to 
ensure, as far as possible, a relatively consistent return 
to shareholders.

The dividend paid for the financial year under 
review is Rs 3.00 per ordinary share and Rs.20.00 per 
preference share (2020/2021: Rs. 3.50 per ordinary 
share and Rs.20.00 per preference share).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions are made at arm’s length 
and in the normal course of business.

Related party transactions between the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries or associates and a Director, 
controlling shareholder or companies owned or 
controlled by a Director or controlling shareholder 
are disclosed in the note 31 to the financial statements 
on pages 113 and 114.

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS 
LMLC has a management contract with Management 
and Development Company Limited (MADCO) 
since its inception and has been revisited to be more 
specific on the support of MADCO and its interaction 
with LMLC.  LMLC has no management contracts 
with its subsidiary companies.

MADCO is actively involved in the monitoring of 
the performance and strategic development of the 
companies of the Eclosia Group.  As a result, LMLC 
benefits from a cohesive sharing of enterprise 
management culture, values and ethics. MADCO 
also participates in important exercises of raw 
material procurement, personnel recruitment and 
management as well as determining major capital 
expenditure.

LMLC has a technical management agreement with 
NMI Group Services (Pty) Ltd, an associate Company 
of Credo LM (Pty) Ltd.  In terms of the contract, the 
company benefits from the vast technical experience 
in the domain of milling of the NMI Group in the 
Southern African region. Audits of mass reconciliation 
for the entire wheat milling process are conducted 
every year as well as monitoring of the plant and 
machinery maintenance process and mill upkeep. The 
Company also provides technical and strategic input 
and support for development projects at LMLC.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EVENTS 
a. Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of the Company will be held on 
December 14, 2022.  Shareholders are given sufficient 
notice to attend the Annual Meeting where they have 
the opportunity to interact with the Members of the 
Board, Management and the external auditor.

The Chairman’s Review in the Annual Report gives 
an overview on the Company’s financial position, its 
performance and outlook.

A review of the performance from the closure of the 
financial year to the date of the holding of the Annual 
Meeting and the outlook for the year is presented by 
the General Manager during the Annual Meeting.

The Company also published quarterly review on 
its results and performance in the media and on its 
website and is made available to shareholders upon 
request.
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RELATIONS WITH KEY 
STAKEHOLDERS
Through regular management, departmental 
meetings, monthly company briefing and our 
“Conseil d’entreprise”, our employees are given 
the opportunity to interact, exchange and express 
themselves with management.

Moreover, all our stakeholders are involved or made 
aware of the Company’s organizational strategy and 
performance. Management ensures that their input is 
taken into consideration and their expectations and 
interests are met as far as possible. In that respect, the 
following steps are taken:

a) Suppliers 
The Company maintains a list of all its suppliers on 
procured products and services.  The said suppliers 
are regularly evaluated on the quality of products and 
their standard of services. This evaluation exercise 
allows the Company to choose the best product and 
service provider.

Except for freight and wheat, for all other products 
and services costing more than Rs1million per 

annum, the Company sets a bidding exercise among 
its preferred suppliers.  To ensure to have the best 
product in terms of quality and price, suppliers 
outside the list are also invited in the bidding exercise.

b) Employees 
An employee engagement survey is carried out 
every 2 years to measure their level of satisfaction. 
The results of the survey are then communicated to 
all employees. Through focus groups, all weaknesses 
and opportunities are discussed. Following the 
discussions on improvements to be made, an action 
plan is proposed for implementation.

The last engagement survey carried out in 2020/2021 
recorded a participation rate of 92% in comparison 
to 83% in the previous exercise.  It is to be noted that 
there has also been an improvement on all the drivers 
compared to the previous survey.

c) Union
We have started to negotiate on our Collective 
Agreement with the Union.  So far, regular meetings 
have been held with the employee representatives 
and their negotiator (Food and Beverages Industry 

BOARD COMMITTEES
b. Annual Shareholders’ Events
The calendar of the annual events of the Company are as follows:

DONATIONS
  Company
  2022 2021
  Rs000's Rs000's
Charitable Donations  253 841
Political Donation  Nil Nil

 Event Month
1 Approval of Final Accounts and publication of Abridged Financial Statements  September 
2 Annual Meeting December
3 Dividend Declaration May 
4 Dividend Payment  June 
5 Publication of Quarterly Accounts
 - 1st quarter -  ending 30th September  November
 - 2nd quarter - ending 31st December  February
 - 3rd quarter -  ending 31st March  May
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Employees Union) to finalise the terms and conditions 
of the Agreement and discussions are still ongoing.

d) Clients 
Monthly meetings are held with the State Trading 
Corporation and with other major distributors of 
LMLC’s products, both locally and overseas.  These 
client-supplier meetings allow the company to review 
any concerns, including product quality, service 
level and pricing.  However, as and when required, 
meetings are called with all stakeholders – be it 
daily or weekly, to address any concern.  The more 
so, with the Covid 19 lockdown, the exigencies of 
the changing conditions of the market, resulted in 
intense client-contact during that period.

e) Flour Consumers 
The Company has an elaborated and well-established 
schedule of visits to our clients, which enable us to 
have an in-depth understanding of consumers’ needs 
which are addressed accordingly.  Our consumers 
include bakers, confectioners, chefs and producers of 
flour-related products such as faratha, dhol puri etc..

PUBLIC OUTREACH 
The activities of “La Fournée des Moulins” integrated 
training centre were interrupted from February 2021 
to March 2022, in compliance with the national 
regulations regarding the resumption of courses in all 
MQA training centres.

The courses lightly took up again with 2 CSR training 
sessions to reach full boost in July 2022.

The Awarded NC3 Bakery course recruited 5 students 
who started their training in March 2022. The course 
includes theoretical training and practical training, 
which both take place at LMLC’s training centre to 
account for sanitary precautions. This diploma course 
helps to build local capacity and professionalism in 
the bakery sector.

The previous 2020/21 batch of 5 students 
fared successfully during the September 2021 
examinations, with one Distinction and four Credits. 
The nine 2019/20 students received their certificates 
only in May 2022, due to Covid 19 amendments to 

the academic calendar. LMLC arranged for them to 
receive their certificates from the hands of Mr Pascal 
Tepper, Meilleur Ouvrier de France en boulangerie 
during “La Fête du Pain”2022. It is to be noted that 
half of them were already in employment in August 
2021

The visits to bakers were suspended as from February 
2021. The team of baking and food-technology 
technicians employed by the Company paid a visit 
to all of them at the end of the year 2021 and have 
restarted visits according to their usual pattern since 
January 2022. Thus, around 250 technical visits were 
carried out in Mauritius during the first semester up 
to 30th June, 2022, They are an opportunity to weave 
closer tights with the local bakery professionals and 
entrepreneurs, to mutual satisfaction.

Technical-and commercial visits to bakers in the region, 
put on hold as borders remained closed, are planned 
to pick up. They only went on in Madagascar through 
l’Atelier de la Concorde set up in Antananarivo. The 
training centre has continuously facilitated contact 
and provided services to local bakers, mainly through 
product testing and professional training

The Company accentuated its digital communication. 
The showcase corporate website was revamped and is 
available online since December 2021 (www.lmlc.mu). 

LMLC also actively promotes Bledor on its attractive 
Blédor Facebook page with more than 30,000 
followers.

Visits of the flourmill are interrupted since the first 
national lockdown in 2020. In order to reduce the 
number of visitors on site as sanitary precautions, 
LMLC realised a series of virtual visits of the various 
steps of the milling process.

Activities were organised again in May 2022 for the 
annual “Fête du Pain”, in strict respect of sanitary 
regulations. 

L’Ecole Hotelière Sir Gaetan Duval organised a 
series of competitions at their premises, intended 
to students of several bakery training institutions, 
including La Fournée des Moulins. They comprised:  
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cake decoration, faratha preparation and sandwich 
making. 

Members of the Mauritius Chefs Association also 
competed in presenting a French traditional St 
Honoré, in classic and revisited version. This was a 
tribute paid to St Honoré., the Patron Saint of Bakers.

Transmitting the art of baking and acquiring the 
savoir-faire is at the heart of La Fête du Pain. This is 
why Les Moulins de la Concorde collaborated to the 
Masterclass delivered by Mr Pascal Tepper, Meilleur 
Ouvrier de France en boulangerie and organised 
by Service à la Française. MOF Tepper carried out 
a dedicated training at La Fournée des Moulins for 
the current and former trainees of the NC3 Bakery 
Course.

La Fete du Pain was also celebrated on social media 
and radio channels.

LMLC, together with Winners, collectively decided 
to add a social touch to La Fête du Pain, to account 
for the difficult period of rising prices. Les Moulins 
de la Concorde designed a special recipe of “Pain du 
Partage”. It was baked by Winners with ingredients 
supplied by LMLC and sold in all their outlets.The 
supermarket chain contributed an amount for each 
unit sold and extended the principle on promotional 
actions during La Fête du Pain. This action raised 
more than Rs250,000, distributed to several NGOs 
throughout the country.

SOCIAL POLICIES & ACTIVITIES 
a. Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company contributed of total amount of 
Rs4,939,951 as Corporate Social Responsibility 
distributed equally between payments to the 
Mauritius Revenue Authority and the .”Fondation 
Solidarité” of the Eclosia Group.

The “Fondation Solidarité” , set up in 1999 by Eclosia 
Group,is a special purpose vehicle directing and 
coordinating collective support actions in poverty 
alleviation and community development in Mauritius.  
The “Foundation” is managed and monitored on a 
regular and professional basis. Fondation Solidarité 
received authorisation to incur 50% of the amount 

due directly in approved projects,while the remaining 
50% is paid to the Mauritius Revenue Authority.

Fondation Solidarité changed its accounts year to 
the calendar year as from 1st January, 2022. LMLC’s 
direct CSR expenses will amount to Rs527,500 for the 
whole 2022.
 
LMLC now supports projects in its vicinity. The 
beneficiaries are Future Hope and Mouvement pour 
le Progrès de Roche Bois, both located in Roche Bois. 
They respectively work towards social and school 
support as well as the initiation to organic gardening. 
The proximity allows LMC to have closer contacts 
and support them beyond financing involvement. 

A number of training sessions are also offered to 
associations and NGOs as part of the CSR plan.

Non CSR solidarity actions are also carried out, 
such as the grant of secondary school bursaries of 
St François School.  A total of 49 scholars, with 12 
current beneficiaries, have received bursaries which 
provide financial assistance for education.

The Company sponsored a few social activities. LMLC  
also donated flour and semolina to organisations 
concerned with unprivileged groups  or the restricted 
celebration of religious festivals like Maha Shivratree.

b. Ethics
The Company’s Code of Ethics, which presents 
the ethical policies of the Company, is constantly 
promoted amongst employees through sensitisation 
and awareness programmes.  

The objectives of the company are shared with the 
personnel though the presentation of the budget in 
line with the strategy and the expected results.

Top and middle management were particularly 
targeted through sensitisation programmes as crucial 
stakeholders of the code within the Company. Training 
and work sessions on ‘Vision, Mission and Values 
formulation’ were conducted among representative 
members of all department during the year.

Furthermore, to promote the code among all 
employees of LMLC, the General Manager elaborates 
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alternately on the importance of one value in each 
monthly briefing conducted.

c. Environment
The Environmental Management System 
implemented and maintained at LMLC, is certified 
against the international standard of ISO 14001, 
since 1996. An annual audit is conducted by Anglo 
Japanese American Registrars Mauritius Ltd (AJA) to 
verify the compliance and uphold of the certification, 
which is currently, ISO 14001:2015. This management 
system enables LMLC to improve its environmental 
performance and reduce its environmental impact, 
through improved resource efficiency and reduction 
of wastes. 

LMLC is emphasizing on the below important 
environmental aspects, namely:
•  the reduction in the use of plastic for a long-term 

strategic change in the packaging of flour products
•  continuous investment in energy-efficient 

equipment in order to reduce electricity 
consumption

•  regular awareness sessions to employees to 
reduce plastics pollution and to reinforce the 
implementation of the 7Rs for a better waste 
management (Rethink, Refuse, Reduce, Reuse, 
Repurpose, Repair and Recycle)

LMLC is also contributing to the Port Area 
Environment Committee through the maintenance 
of “green areas” on its site and in the surroundings 
as well as through the cleaning of the harbour areas 
together with other port’s companies.  

d. Health and Safety
In view of demonstrating its commitment to its 
employees' health and well-being and to continually 
improve their safety, the Company has maintained its 
OHSAS 18001:2007 certification by AJA, since 2011.
 
The implementation of this Health and Safety 
Management System helps the Company to pave a 
way towards fewer workplace injuries and illnesses 
through a proactive approach to hazard identification 
and risk assessment, which in turn leads to the 
improvement of its organisational health and safety. 

A high consideration is paid to the emergency 
preparedness and response procedures, that are 
tested at established frequency. Moreover, in view of 
engaging its employees to abide to these emergency 
procedures, training sessions have been organised on 
‘ATEX Dust Explosion - Prevention and Mitigation’, 
during this year.

An experienced Health and Safety Officer together 
with a qualified team ensure the compliance with 
applicable legal requirements in this area and 
facilitate the functioning of an active health and 
safety committee at LMLC.  Qualified technicians 
on site monitor all conditions within the Company, 
which may affect the health and safety of employees. 
No emergency incidents occurred during the year. 

e. Food Safety and Quality
LMLC continues to operate with the established 
control measures, procedures and practices which 
are based on the requirements of internationally 
recognized standards: ISO 9001:2015 (Quality 
Management System) and HACCP (Food Safety 
Management System).

The certified management systems in-place are 
continually improved through regular reviews 
performed by LMLC team to:
•  consistently provide trustworthy products and 

services that meet customer and applicable 
statutory and regulatory requirements; 

•  ensure the involvement and development of the 
competence of its employees, which subsequently 
improves the performance of the company;

•  improve the company processes to reduce waste, 
increase sustainability and efficiency, and maximize 
profits;

•  enhance customer satisfaction.

STATUTORY DISCLOSURES
The direct and indirect interests of the Directors of 
the Company are already disclosed on page 22.

The senior officers (General Manager, Finance 
Manager and Company Secretary) do not hold shares 
in the Company.
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Employees have not been granted the option to 
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company.

a. Service Contracts
There are no service contracts with the Directors of 
the Company.

The Company has a service contract for IT services 
with Eclosia Technology Services Ltd (“ETS”), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Management and Development 
Company Limited (“MADCO”)).  The Company has 
a distribution contract with Panagora Marketing 
Company Limited for the distribution of flour in small 
packs.  Both ETS and Panagora Marketing Company 
Limited form part of the Eclosia Group.

In addition, flour mixes and improvers are sold to 
Cascadelle Distribution et Cie Ltée through a service 
agreement for retail distribution.

The Company has contracted Eclosia Secretarial 
Services Co Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
MADCO) to provide corporate secretarial services to 
the Company and its subsidiaries. 

The Company contracts out many operational 
activities such as security, machinery and electrical 
maintenance, transport and pest control to local 
service providers.

All transactions carried out in terms of the above 
contracts are in normal course of business and at 
arm’s length.

b.  Contract of significance with substantial 
shareholders

The Company has a formal management contract 
with MADCO whereby the Company pays a fee 
based on its annual gross turnover.

The Company has a formal technical management 
contract with NMI Group Services (Pty) Ltd whereby 
the Company pays a fee based on its annual gross 
turnover.

c. Contract of significance with Directors
There is no contract of significance with the Directors.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
  GROUP
  2022 2021
  Rs000’s Rs000’s
Results – Net Profit after tax 65,881 177,302
Current Assets  1,336,041 963,996
Non-current Assets  1,775,517 1,633,161
Non-current Assets classified as held for sale - 533
Total Assets  3,111,558 2,597,690

  GROUP
  2022 2021
  Rs000’s Rs000’s
Capital and reserves  2,112,515 1,899,267
Current liabilities  654,432 350,852
Non-current liabilities  344,611 347,571
Total equity and liabilities 3,111,558 2,597,690

Eclosia Secretarial Services Ltd
SECRETARY

September 28, 2022
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:
(i)  adequate accounting records and maintenance of 

effective internal control systems;
(ii)  the preparation of financial statements which 

fairly present the state of affairs of the Group and 
the Company as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for 
that period and which comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

(iii)  the selection of appropriate accounting policies 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments.

The report of the external auditors confirming that 
the financial statements are fairly presented is on 
page 50.

The Directors report that:
(i)  adequate accounting records and an effective 

system of internal controls and risks management 
have been maintained;

(ii)  appropriate accounting policies supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates 
have been used consistently;

(iii)  International Financial Reporting standards 
have been adhered to.  Any departure in fair 
presentation has been disclosed, explained and 
quantified;

(iv)  the Code of Corporate Governance has been 
complied and explanations have been provided 
on how the principles of the Code were applied.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for 
the Company’s systems of control. The systems 
have been designed to provide the Directors with 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that 
transactions are authorised and properly recorded 
and that there are no material errors and irregularities.

An internal audit system is in place to assist 
management in the effective discharge of its 
responsibilities, and it is independent of management 
and reports to the Audit and Risk Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for 
maintaining a sound and effective system of internal 
controls to safeguard the Company’s assets and 
shareholders’ interests.

The Board accepts overall responsibility for risk 
management. Through the Audit and Risk Committee, 
the Directors are made aware of the risk areas that 
affect the Company and ensure that Management 
has taken appropriate measures to mitigate these 
risks.

The Board considers that the annual report and 
accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the information 
necessary for shareholders and other key stakeholders 
to assess the organisations’ position, performance 
and outlook.

Mushtaq Oosman Deonanan Makoond
Chairman Director

September 28, 2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
(Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Name of Public Interest Entity: LES MOULINS DE LA CONCORDE LTEE

Reporting Period: JULY 1, 2021 TO JUNE 30, 2022

We, the Directors of LES MOULINS DE LA CONCORDE LTEE, confirm that to the best of our knowledge that, 

throughout the financial year ended June 30, 2022, LES MOULINS DE LA CONCORDE LTEE has complied with 

all the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code for Mauritius of 2016 except that no Executive 

Directors has been appointed to the Board.  The Board is of the view that the participation of the General 

Manager at all board meetings and the participation of senior executives in sub-committees of the Board meet 

the spirit of the National Code of Corporate Governance.

LES MOULINS DE LA CONCORDE LTEE has applied all of the principles set out in the Code and explanations as 

to how these principles have been applied are provided in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company 

at June 30, 2022.

Mushtaq Oosman  Deonanan Makoond
Chairman Director

September 28, 2022
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SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE - JUNE 30, 2022 
 

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies 
all such returns as are required of the Company under the Companies Act 2001.

ECLOSIA SECRETARIAL SERVICES LTD
SECRETARY

September 28, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
and of the Company standing alone as at 30 June 2022, and of their financial performance and their cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
in compliance with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

What we have audited
Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 58 
to 115 comprise:
• the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2022;
•  the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the 

year then ended;
• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
•  the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (the “IESBA Code”). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (cont'd)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Group
Valuation of unquoted investments held at fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

The Group holds unquoted investments held at 
fair value through other comprehensive income 
amounting to Rs 246 million at 30 June 2022.

As stated in notes 4 and 10 in the financial 
statements, this is an area of most significance 
because management makes significant 
judgement due to the complexity of the 
techniques and assumptions used in valuing the 
unquoted investments given limited external  
evidence and unobservable market data 
available to support the Group's valuations.

The Company
Accounting treatment for retirement benefit 
obligations

At 30 June 2022, the Company/Group had a 
net retirement benefit liability of Rs 59.3M, a 
decrease of Rs 13.2M from the previous year.

This is mainly due to the increase in the fair 
value of assets in which the pension fund has 
invested, and a slight fall in the present value of 
pension obligations.

The valuation of the retirement benefit 
obligation, which is carried out by external 
actuaries engaged by management, is dependent 
on market conditions and key assumptions 
made, relating to investment markets, discount 
rates, salary increases, inflation expectations and 
life expectancy assumptions.

These assumptions are complex in nature and 
requires the exercise of significant management 
judgement with the support of the external 
actuary.

For unobservable inputs we obtained the models, 
we assessed the assumptions and the data used 
against market information and industry norms.

Our valuation experts performed an independent 
valuation of the unquoted investments, in order 
to assess whether management's valuations were 
within a reasonable range of outcomes in the 
context of the inherent uncertainties.

We also involved our valuation experts to review 
and compare the methodologies used in the 
context of the relevant investments held.

We assessed the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the external actuaries.

We obtained the pension valuation reports, 
assessed the assumptions used and the methods 
used to derive the discount rate.

We compared the discount rate and inflation 
rates, together with the expected rates of return 
on plan assets used in the valuation of the 
pension obligation by the external actuaries, to 
independent benchmarks. We compared the 
assumptions around salary increases and mortality 
rates to national and industry averages.

We further tested the membership data used in 
the valuation of the pension obligations, including 
joiners' and leavers’ data, to assess whether the 
basis of the valuation is appropriate.

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (cont'd)

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 
report, the corporate governance report, the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the statement of 
compliance and the secretary’s certificate, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report 
and the chairman’s review report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other 
information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

When we read the chairman’s review report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, 
we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance 
with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and Company’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (cont'd)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•  One resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s internal control.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (cont'd)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (cont'd)
•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Mauritian Companies Act 2001
The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you 
on the following matters. We confirm that:
(a)  we have no relationship with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than in our 

capacity as auditor and tax advisor of the Company ;
(b) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and
(c)  in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our 

examination of those records.

Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004
Our responsibility under the Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004 is to report on the compliance with 
the Code of Corporate Governance (“Code”) disclosed in the annual report and assess the explanations 
given for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. From our assessment of the disclosures 
made on corporate governance in the annual report, the Company has, pursuant to section 75 of the 
Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004, complied with the requirements of the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Les Moulins de La Concorde Ltee

Other Matter
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s shareholders, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by 
our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Robert Coutet, licensed by FRC
28 September 2022
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 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  30 June 30 June  30 June 30 June
 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
ASSETS  Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 976,022 946,633 976,022 946,633 
Right-of-use assets 6 67,449 71,752 67,449 71,752 
Intangible assets 7 55,150 64,049 55,150 64,049
Investments in subsidiary companies 8 - - 334,406 334,406
Investment in associate 9 222,267 210,888 - -  
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 10 454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388 
  1,775,517 1,633,161 1,561,880 1,519,228 

Current assets
Inventories 11 1,036,036 668,943 1,036,036 668,943 
Trade receivables 12 204,502 146,418 204,502 146,418 
Other receivables 13 17,285 19,559 16,551 21,666 
Current tax assets 21(a)  6,374 -  6,381 -   
Cash and cash equivalents 30(b) 71,844 129,076 64,854  126,150 
  1,336,041 963,996 1,328,324 963,177 

Non-current asset classified as held-for-sale 14(d) - 533  -    -   
Total assets  3,111,558 2,597,690 2,890,204 2,482,405 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
(attributable to owners of the parent)      
Share capital 15 1,080,000 1,080,000 1,080,000 1,080,000 
Revaluation and other reserves 16 526,687 353,093 278,435 220,110 
Retained earnings  505,828 466,174 532,896 484,082 
Total equity  2,112,515 1,899,267 1,891,331 1,784,192

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17 30,000 30,000 30,000  30,000 
Retirement benefit obligations 18 59,338 72,529 59,338 72,529
Deferred tax liabilities 19 185,051 172,208 185,051  172,208 
Lease liabilities 6 70,222  72,834 70,222 72,834 
  344,611 347,571 344,611 347,571 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 82,210 70,928 82,040 70,750
Dividends payable 22 5,796 43,182 5,796 43,182
Current tax liabilities 21(a) - 8,233  - 8,201
Borrowings 17 563,814 225,846 563,814 225,846 
Lease liabilities 6 2,612 2,663 2,612 2,663
  654,432 350,852 654,262 350,642
Total liabilities  999,043 698,423 998,873 698,213 
Total equity and liabilities  3,111,558 2,597,690 2,890,204 2,482,405 

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2022.

Mushtaq Oosman  Deonanan Makoond
Chairman Director

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

The notes on pages 63 to 115 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
  Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Continuing operations
Revenue 2.12, 24 2,634,430 2,112,941 2,627,686  2,108,812 
Cost of sales 25  (2,374,353) (1,744,333) (2,374,353) (1,744,333)
Gross profit  260,077 368,608 253,333 364,479 
Other income 26 5,417 6,025 5,417 6,025 
Selling and distribution costs 25 (33,399) (32,432) (33,399) (32,432)
Administrative expenses 25 (128,232) (114,325) (127,881) (113,983)
Operating profit before reversal of impairment
of investment in subsidiary 23 103,863 227,876 97,470 224,089
Reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiary 28 - - -  24,939
Finance Income 27(a) 131 14,599 117 14,558
Finance Costs 27(b) (15,442) (15,140) (15,442) (15,261)
Share of loss of associate 9 (15,565) (19,214) -    - 
Profit before taxation  72,987 208,121 82,145 248,325
Income tax expense 21(b) (5,062) (25,869) (5,060) (25,841)
Corporate social responsibility tax 21(b) (2,044) (4,944) (2,044) (4,941)
Profit for the year from continuing operations  65,881 177,308 75,041  217,543

Discontinued operations
Post tax loss from discontinued operations 14(b) -  (6) - - 
Profit for the year  65,881 177,302 75,041 217,543 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gains on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  45,742 147,069 45,742 147,069 
Deferred tax on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment  (7,776) (25,002) (7,776) (25,002)
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations  2,611 (6,750) 2,611 (6,750)
Deferred tax relating to remeasurements of
defined benefit obligations  (444) 1,148 (444) 1,148 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI  114,790 51,949 26,465 15,121
Share of other comprehensive income of associate  26,944 17,191 - - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  181,867 185,605 66,598 131,586

Total comprehensive income for the year  247,748 362,907 141,639 349,129

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent  65,881 177,302 75,041 217,543

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent  247,748 362,907 141,639 349,129

Earnings per share
Earnings per share (Rs/cs) 29 5.91 16.22 6.75  19.95

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

The notes on pages 63 to 115 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE GROUP Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

   Revaluation
  Share and other Retained
 Notes  capital reserves earnings Total
  Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Balance at July 1, 2021  1,080,000 353,093 466,174  1,899,267 
Profit for the year   - - 65,881  65,881 
Other comprehensive income for the year   - 181,867  -    181,867 
Total comprehensive income for the year   - 181,867 65,881 247,748 

Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment, net of tax  - (8,273) 8,273  -  
Dividends - 2022 22 - - (34,500) (34,500)
Balance at June 30, 2022  1,080,000 526,687 505,828  2,112,515 

Balance at July 1, 2020  540,000 236,017 800,243  1,576,260 
Profit for the year  - - 177,302   177,302
Other comprehensive income for the year  - 185,605  - 185,605 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -  185,605 177,302   362,907

Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment,  net of tax  - (3,529) 3,529 -
Bonus issue  540,000  (65,000) (475,000)  -  
Dividends - 2021 22 - - (39,900) (39,900)
Balance at June 30, 2021  1,080,000 353,093 466,174  1,899,267

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
- YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

The notes on pages 63 to 115 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The notes on pages 63 to 115 form an integral part of these financial statements.

THE COMPANY

   Revaluation
  Share and other Retained
 Notes  capital reserves earnings Total
  Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Balance at June 30, 2021  1,080,000 220,110 484,082 1,784,192 
Profit for the year   -  - 75,041 75,041 
Other comprehensive income for the year   -  66,598  - 66,598
Total comprehensive income for the year   - 66,598 75,041 141,639

Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment, net of tax   - (8,273)  8,273 -
Dividends - 2022 22 - - (34,500) (34,500)
Balance at June 30, 2022  1,080,000 278,435 532,896 1,891,331

Balance at July 1, 2020  540,000 157,053 777,910 1,474,963 
Profit for the year   - - 217,543 217,543
Other comprehensive income for the year   - 131,586 - 131,586
Total comprehensive income for the year   - 131,586 217,543  349,129 

Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment, net of tax   - (3,529) 3,529 -
Bonus issue  540,000 (65,000) (475,000) - 
Dividends - 2021 22 -  - (39,900) (39,900)
Balance at June 30, 2021  1,080,000 220,110 484,082 1,784,192

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
- YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
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 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
  Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s Rs000’s
Cash from/(used in) operating activities
Cash generated from operations 30(a) (221,523) 289,776 (225,600) 282,764
Interest received  14 41 -  -
Interest paid  (15,442) (15,140) (15,442) (15,261)
Tax paid 21(a) (17,090) (44,640) (17,063) (44,583)
Retirement benefit obligations paid  (1,764) (2,733) (1,764) (2,733)
Deficit funding paid  (12,040) - (12,040) -
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities  (267,845) 227,304 (271,909) 220,187

Cash from/(used in) investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (53,271) (36,937) (53,271) (36,937)
Acquisition of intangible assets 7 (3,063) (2,673) (3,063) (2,673)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  497 110 497 110
Purchase of investment in financial assets 10 - (11,878)  - - 
Dividends received 26 4,480 - 4,480 -
Net cash used in investing activities  (51,357) (51,378) (51,357) (39,500)

Cash from/(used in) financing activities
Payment of medium-term borrowings  (580,700) (608,500) (580,700) (632,500)
Proceeds from medium-term borrowings  575,600 525,000 575,600 541,500
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders  (71,886) (39,848) (71,886) (39,848)
IFRS 16 lease principal repayments  (2,663) (2,721) (2,663) (2,721)
Net cash used in financing activities  (79,649) (126,069) (79,649) (133,569)

Net cash flows from discontinued operations 14(c) - 5  -  -  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (398,851) 49,862 (402,915) 47,118

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
At July 1,  38,230 (23,191) 35,304 (23,373)
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents  (398,851) 49,862 (402,915) 47,118
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes  (1,449) 11,559 (1,449) 11,559
At June 30, 30(b) (362,070) 38,230 (369,060) 35,304

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
- YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

The notes on pages 63 to 115 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius.  
The address of its registered office is Eclosia Group Headquarters, Gentilly, Moka and its principal place 
of business is at Cargo Peninsula, Quay D, Port Louis.

These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders of the Company.  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée comply with the Companies Act 2001 and 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Company will continue in business.

The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and its 
subsidiary companies (The Group) and the separate financial statements of the parent company (The 
Company).  The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (Rs000's), except when otherwise indicated.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to conform with change in presentation in the 
current year. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that: 
(i)  buildings, flour mill equipment and sundry equipment are carried at revalued amounts; 
(ii)  financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income;
(iii) relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at fair value; and
(iv) financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
In the current year, the Group has applied all of the new and revised Standards Interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB which are relevant to its operations and effective for 
accounting period 30 June 2022.

New and Revised Standards applied with no material effect on the financial statements
The following relevant revised Standard have been applied in these financial statements. Their applications 
have not had any material impact on the amounts reported for current and prior years but may affect the 
accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments The Phase 2 amendments address issues that arise from the
IFRS 4 Insurance contracts implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of 
IFRS 16 Leases  one benchmark with an alternative one
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IFRS 4 Insurance contracts
   - Amendments regarding the change the fixed date of the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 from 

applying IFRS 9, Financial instrument
IFRS 16 Leases
   -  Amendments providing lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19-

related rent concession is a lease modification.

Relevant new and revised Standards in issue not yet effective
Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued that are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2022 or later periods, but which the 
Group has not early adopted.

At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective:
IFRS 3 Business combinations
   -  Amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual framework (effective 1 January 

2022) 
IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment 
   -  Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and 

equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the 
asset for its intended use (effective 1 January 2022)

IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
   - Amendments specifying which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract 

will be loss-making (effective 1 January 2022)

Annual improvements (including minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9, 
‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’).

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
  - Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities (effective 1 January 2024)
IAS 1, Practice Statement 2, IAS 8   
   - Narrow scope amendments aiming to improve accounting policy disclosures and to help 

users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and 
changes in accounting policies (effective 1 January 2023)

IAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
   - Amendments requiring companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial 

recognition give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductable temporary differences 
(effective 1 January 2023). 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts (effective 1 January 2023) 
 
Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, Amendments to published 
Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.1 Basis of preparation (CONT'D)
Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (cont'd)
New and Revised Standards applied with no material effect on the financial statements (cont'd)
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group's/Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in note 4.

2.2 Property, plant and equipment 
Buildings, flour mill equipment and sundry equipment, held for use in the production of goods or for 
administrative purposes are stated at their fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial valuations, by 
external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings, flour mill and sundry equipment. 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.  All other property, plant 
and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the assets' carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group/Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income 
and shown as revaluation surplus in shareholders' equity.  Decreases that offset previous increases of the 
same asset are charged against the revaluation surplus directly in equity; all other decreases are charged 
to profit or loss.

Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and 
depreciation based on the asset's original cost is transferred from revaluation surplus to retained earnings.

Properties in the course of construction for production, or administrative purposes or for purposes not 
yet determined, are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.  Cost includes professional fees.  
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amounts of the 
assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.1 Basis of preparation (cont'd)
Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (cont'd)
Relevant new and revised Standards in issue not yet effective (cont'd)

    Annual rates

Buildings   2% - 10%
Flour mill equipment  3.7% - 9%
Sundry equipment  4% - 20%
Office furniture and equipment  20% or 100%
Motor vehicles  20%
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The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate, at end of each reporting period.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount.  

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount and are included in profit or loss.  On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts 
included in revaluation surplus are transferred to retained earnings.

2.3 Intangible assets
Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software and are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives (7 years).  

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software 
controlled by the Group/Company and that will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond 
one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group 
controls an entity where the group has power over the entity and is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of financial position respectively.

Investment in subsidiaries is initially shown at cost. Where an indication of impairment exists, the 
recoverable amount of the investment is assessed. Where the carrying amount of the investment is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
and the difference is charged to profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.2 Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)
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value less costs of disposal and value in use. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss. 

(ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control. 
This is generally the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments 
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), after initially being 
recognised at cost.

(iii) Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit 
or loss, and the group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee. Dividends 
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
amount of the investment.

Where the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the 
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 
below policy.

(iv) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are 
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(v) Changes in ownership interests
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (cont'd)
(i) Subsidiaries (cont'd)
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transactions with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of the Group.

When the group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, 
joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, 
with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

2.5 Financial assets
The Group/Company classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed below, depending 
on the purpose for which the asset was acquired.  Other than financial assets in a qualifying hedging 
relationship, the Company’s/Group's accounting policy for each category is as follows:

(i) Fair value through profit or loss
The Company/Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): 
  -  debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);
 - equity investments that are held for trading;
  -  equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses 

through OCI; and
 - derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments.

(ii) Amortised cost
These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (eg trade receivables), 
but also incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest.  They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less provision for impairment.  

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS 
9 using the lifetime expected credit losses.  During this process the probability of the non-payment of 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (cont'd)
(v) Changes in ownership interests (cont'd)
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the trade receivables is assessed.  This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss 
arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade receivables. For trade 
receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with the 
loss being recognised within cost of sales in the statement of comprehensive income.  On confirmation 
that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against 
the associated provision.

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are recognised 
based on a forward looking expected credit loss model.  The methodology used to determine the amount 
of the provision is based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the financial asset.  For those where the credit risk has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest 
income are recognised.  For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit 
losses along with the gross interest income are recognised.  For those that are determined to be credit 
impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with interest income on a net basis are recognised.

From time to time, the Company/Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from 
customers with which it has previously had a good trading history.  Such renegotiations will lead to 
changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts owed and, in consequence, the 
new expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference 
to the carrying value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (operating profit).

The Company/Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and – for the purpose of the statement 
of cash flows - bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within loans and borrowings in current liabilities 
on the statement of financial position. 

(iii) Fair value through other comprehensive income
The Company/Group has a number of strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities which are 
not accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities. For those investments, the 
Company/Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss as the Company/Group considers this 
measurement to be the most representative of the business model for these assets.  They are carried 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve.  Upon disposal any balance within fair 
value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not 
reclassified to profit or loss. 

The Company/Group has debt securities whose objective is achieved by both holding these securities 
in order to collect contractual cash flows and having the intention to sell the debt securities before 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.5 Financial assets (cont'd)
(ii) Amortised cost (cont'd)
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maturity.  The contractual terms of the debt securities give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  They are carried at fair value with changes 
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value through other 
comprehensive income reserve.  Upon disposal any balance within fair value through other comprehensive 
income reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment, in which case the full or partial amount of the dividend is recorded against the 
associated investments carrying amount. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
recognised on settlement date with any change in fair value between trade date and settlement date 
being recognised in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve.  

(iv)  Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which 
the group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

2.6 Financial liabilities 
The Company/Group classifies its financial liabilities as follows:
-  Bank borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable 

to the issue of the instrument.  Such interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period 
to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial 
position. For the purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs 
and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is 
outstanding.

-  Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade and other payables are 
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. 

2.7 Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

Preference share capital   
Preference share capital is classified as debt or equity based on its contractual terms. The part that is non-
redeemable or redeemable only at the Company's option and any discretionary dividends are treated as 
equity. Discretionary dividends thereon are recognised as distributions within equity upon approval by 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.5 Financial assets (cont'd)
(iii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (cont'd)
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the Company's shareholders. The terms of the preference shares includes a mandatory fixed cumulative 
dividend of 13%, meeting the definition of a liability under the requirements of IAS 32. Interest of 13%, 
representing the effective interest rate is accounted for as finance cost in profit or loss.

2.8 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined by the first-in, 
first-out (FIFO) method.  The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct 
labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but 
excludes borrowing costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the costs of completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

2.9 Retirement benefit obligations 
(a) Defined benefit plans 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit 
plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.  

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value 
of plan assets.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding 
interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), is recognised immediately in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other 
comprehensive income shall not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.

The Group/Company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/
(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at 
the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any 
changes in the net defined liability/(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. Net interest expense/(income) is recognised in profit or loss.

Service costs comprising current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments 
and settlements are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(b) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group/Company pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity.  The Group/Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.7 Share capital (cont'd)
Preference share capital (cont'd)
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Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service that entitle them to the contributions.

(c) Gratuity on retirement
For employees who are not covered (or who are insufficiently covered by the above pension plans), the 
net present value of gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers Rights Act 2019 is calculated by a 
qualified actuary and provided for. The obligations arising under this item are not funded.

2.10 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

Current tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income, based on the applicable income tax rate, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether 
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.  The group measures its 
tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method 
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, 
other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date and are expected to apply in the period when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  

2.11 Foreign currencies 
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company and each of its subsidiaries are measured in 
Mauritian rupees, the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates using 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.9 Retirement benefit obligations  (cont'd)
(b) Defined contribution plans (cont'd)
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("functional currency").  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Mauritian rupees, which 
is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within 'finance income or finance cost'. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date the fair value was determined.  

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities are classified as financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii)  income and expenses for each statement representing profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
are translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
entities are taken to shareholders' equity.  When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences 
are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.12 Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition
The majority of the revenue is derived from selling goods with revenue recognised at a point in time when 
control of the goods has transferred to the customer.  This is generally when the goods are delivered to 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.11 Foreign currencies (cont'd)
(a) Functional and presentation currency (cont'd)
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the customer.  However, for export sales, control might also be transferred when delivered either to the 
port of departure or port of arrival, depending on the specific terms of the contract with a customer.  
There is limited judgement needed in identifying the point control passes: once physical delivery of the 
products to the agreed location has occurred, the Company no longer has physical possession, usually will 
have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks 
and rewards of the goods in question. 

Determining the transaction price
Most of the revenue is derived from fixed price contracts and therefore the amount of revenue to be 
earned from each contract is determined by reference to those fixed prices. 

Allocating amounts to performance obligations
For most contracts, there is a fixed unit price for each product sold, with reductions given for bulk orders 
placed at a specific time.  Therefore, there is no judgement involved in allocating the contract price to 
each unit ordered in such contracts (it is the total contract price divided by the number of units ordered).  
Where a customer orders more than one product line, the Company is able to determine the split of the 
total contract price between each product line by reference to each product’s standalone selling prices 
(all product lines are capable of being, and are, sold separately).

2.13 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are declared. 

2.14 Segment reporting
Segment information presented relate to operating segments that engage in business activities for which 
revenues are earned and expenses incurred.

2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group/Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources that can be reliably estimated will be 
required to settle the obligation.  

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

2.16 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through a continuing use.  This condition is regarded as met only, when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.12 Revenue recognition (cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (cont'd)
Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition (cont'd)
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When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and 
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria describe above are met, regardless 
of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale. 

Events or circumstances may extend the period to complete the sale beyond one year if the delay is 
caused by events or circumstances beyond the entity’s control and there is sufficient evidence that the 
entity remains  committed to its plan to sell the asset.

2.17 Leases
At initial recognition of a new lease, the lease liability is recognised as the present value of future payments, 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (unless the interest implicit to the lease is available for 
use). A corresponding right-of-use asset is recognised on initial recognition and is measured at an amount 
equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any previously recognised prepaid or accrued lease 
payments relating to that lease.

Subsequently the Company/Group accounts for lease payments by allocating it between finance costs 
and the lease liability. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period. The right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Initial direct costs are excluded for the measurement of the right-of-use asset.

The group leases land and warehouse, operating equipment and motor vehicles. Rental contracts are 
typically made for fixed periods of 12 months to 20 years but may have extension options.  Contracts 
may contain both lease and non-lease components. The group allocates the consideration in the contract 
to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.   Lease terms are 
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.  Leased 
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

In applying IFRS 16, the Group/Company may use the following practical expedients permitted by the 
standard: 

• Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
•  Relying on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as an alternative to performing an 

impairment review – there were no onerous contracts;
•  Accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as short-term 

leases;
•  Excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use assets at the date of initial 

application; and
•  Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or 

terminate the lease.

The Group/Company does not have any low value assets or short term leases.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.  Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.16 Non-current assets held for sale (cont'd)
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• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
•  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date
•  amounts expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees
•  the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and 
•  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that 

option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing 
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar 
terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 
•  where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
•  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held, 

which does not have recent third-party financing, and
•  makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent financing 
or market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a 
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities are:
Land and warehouse and equipment – 6% 
Motor vehicles – 7.25%

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, 
which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.  When adjustments to lease payments 
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use 
asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each period.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent financing 
or market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a 
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.17 Leases (cont'd)
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Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received 
• any initial direct costs, and
• restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term 
on a straight-line basis. If the group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. 

The Group does not engage in variable lease payments.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of  leases across the group. These are used 
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the group’s operations. The 
majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable by the Group.

2.18 Other Income
Other Income includes dividends, interests and freight rebates.  Other Income is recognised when it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group/Company and the amount can be measured 
reliably. It should be recognised as follows:
- Interests: using the effective interest method
- Dividends: when the shareholder's rights to receive payment is established
- Freight rebates: accrual basis when the terms and conditions are met

2.19 Operating profit before reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiary
Operating profit before reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiary is stated after adding to 
operating profit, the reversal of impairment of the investment in subsidiary in previous year.

2.20 Business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of 
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary comprises the:
• fair values of the assets transferred
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
• equity interests issued by the group
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, 
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises 
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable 
assets.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.17 Leases (cont'd)
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The excess of the:
• consideration transferred
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are 
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
  
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future 
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains 
or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

2.21 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
•  the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (being the difference between profit attributable 

to equity holders and preference share dividends)
• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

2.22 Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it 
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
2.20 Business Combinations (cont'd)
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The Group’s/Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price 
risk, currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Group's/
Company's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effect of the Group's/Company's financial performance.  A 
description of the significant risk factors is given below together with the risk management policies 
applicable.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk
The Group/Company is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by Group/
Company and classified as fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The Group/
Company is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk arising from investments in 
equity securities, the Group/Company diversifies its portfolio.  Diversification of the portfolio is done in 
accordance with the limits set by the Group/Company.  

The majority of the Group's equity investments are publicly traded on the Stock Exchange.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the fair value of the investments on the 
Group's/Company's equity.  The analysis is based on the assumption that the fair value had increased/
decreased by 5%.

(ii) Currency risk
The Group/Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Euro, Swiss franc (CHF) and the US dollar.  
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments in foreign operations.

The Group/Company has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to 
foreign currency translation risk.  As the currency exposure to the net assets of the Group's/Company's 
foreign operations are not significant, no hedging transactions have been entered into to manage the 
risk.  

 IMPACT ON EQUITY

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022 2021 2022 2021 
  Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) (note 10)
Fair value increase or decrease by 5%  22,731 16,992 6,443 5,119 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial Risk Factors
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CURRENCY PROFILE 

THE GROUP    2022

   Equivalent in Rs000's   Rs000's
 USD EUR ZAR CHF AUD MUR TOTAL

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVOCI (note 10) - -  -  - - 454,629 454,629 
Trade receivables (note 12) 138,570 25,171 -  - - 40,761 204,502
Other receivables (note 13) - - - -  - 1,929 1,929
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b)) - 2 3 17 -  71,822  71,844 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 20) 32,208  2,614 4,246  2,254  98  40,055 81,475
Dividends payable (note 22) -     -     -     -     -    5,796  5,796 
Borrowings (note 17) 388,889  11,645   -     -     -    193,280  593,814 
Lease liabilities (note 6) -      -     -     -     72,834 72,834 

    2021

   Equivalent in Rs000's   Rs000's
 USD EUR ZAR CHF AUD MUR TOTAL

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVOCI (note 10) - - -  -  -  339,839 339,839 
Trade receivables (note 12) 81,187 25,679 - -  -  39,552 146,418
Other receivables (note 13) - 2,350 - - - 5,077 7,427
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b)) 121,181 4,655 11 172 -  3,057 129,076 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 20) 4,655 4,201 5,887 - 76 56,109 70,928 
Dividends payable (note 22) - -     -     -     -     43,182 43,182
Borrowings (note 17)  -     -     -     -     -     255,846 255,846 
Lease liabilities (note 6) -     -     -     -     -    75,497 75,497

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont'd)
(a) Market risk (cont'd)
(ii) Currency risk (cont'd)
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CURRENCY PROFILE 

THE COMPANY    2022

   Equivalent in Rs000's   Rs000's
 USD EUR ZAR CHF AUD MUR TOTAL

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVOCI (note 10)  - - - -  -  128,853 128,853
Trade receivables (note 12) 138,570  25,171 - - - 40,761 204,502
Other receivables (note 13) - - - - - 1,195 1,195
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b)) - 2 3 17  - 64,832 64,854 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (note 20) 32,208 2,614 4,246 2,254 98 39,885 81,305
Dividends payable (note 22) -  - - - -  5,796   5,796 
Borrowings (note 17) 388,889 11,645   -     -     -    193,280 593,814 
Lease liabilities (note 6) -     -     -      - 72,834  72,834

    2021

   Equivalent in Rs000's   Rs000's
 USD EUR ZAR CHF AUD MUR TOTAL

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVOCI (note 10) -  - - -  - 102,388 102,388 
Trade receivables (note 12) 81,187 25,679 - - - 39,552 146,418 
Other receivables (note 13) - 2,350 -  -  - 7,184 9,534
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b)) 121,181 4,655  11 172 -  131 126,150

Financial liabilities     

Trade and other payables (note 20) 4,655 4,201 5,887 - 76 55,931 70,750
Dividends payable (note 22) - - - - - 43,182 43,182
Borrowings (note 17) - - - -  - 255,846 255,846
Lease liabilities (note 6) - - -  - - 75,497 75,497

If the rupee had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the USD, EUR, ZAR, CHF and AUD with all other variables 
held constant, post tax profit and equity would have changed as follows: 

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY

      2022 2021 
      Rs000's Rs000's 
Impact of ± 5% movement:
Post-tax profit and equity      13,910  11,021

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont'd)
(a) Market risk (cont'd)
(ii) Currency risk (cont'd)
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(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
 The Group's/Company's interest-rate risk arises from bank borrowings. At June 30, 2022 if interest rate on 
borrowings had been 10 basis points higher/lower with all the other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the 
year would have been Rs000's 1,755 (2021: Rs000's 325) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
expense on floating rate borrowings. 

 All of the Group's/Company's borrowings are exposed to interest rate changes as there are no fixed rate borrowings. 
All of the Group's/Company's borrowings are short terms and based on variable rates.

(b) Credit risk
 Credit and counterparty risk refers to the effects on future cash flows and earnings of receivables defaulting of their 
obligations.  Such risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, contractrual cash flows of investments held at 
FVOCI and trade receivables.

 These exposures are managed through prudent credit exposure limits, constantly measuring current credit exposures, 
estimating maximum potential credit exposures that may arise over the duration of a transaction, and responding 
quickly when corrective action that needs to be taken.

 For cash and cash equivalents the credit risk is managed by the Group by way of trading with only reputable banks 
and financial institutions.  Unless otherwise indicated, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of 
cash and cash equivalents.

 The Group's/Company's assets are predominately unsecured investments in listed and unlisted companies.  The 
Group/Company considers the overall risk exposure of the investments, as a whole, therefore significant changes in 
a particular sector or unexpected increases in interest rates could increase the credit risk inherent in the investment.  
This risk is mitigated through portfolio diversification and active management.  The maximum exposure to credit risk 
is the carrying amount of the investments.

 The Group’s/Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables.  The amounts presented in the 
statement of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group’s/Company's 
management based on prior experience and the current economic environment. 

 The Company has exposure to credit risk attributable to its trade receivables relating to sale of flour and bran.  The 
amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful debts estimated by 
management based on prior experience and the current economic environment.  The Company has policies in place 
to ensure that sales of products and services are made to clients with an appropriate credit history.  Credit limits are 
also set as per Group policy.  The Company has recourse to credit insurance for its foreign customers. 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of 
financial assets as disclosed below:

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont'd)
(a) Market risk (cont'd)

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

    2022  2021 2022 2021 
    Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
Financial assets
Financial assets at FVOCI (note 10)    454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388
Trade receivables (note 12)    204,502 146,418 204,502 146,418
Other receivables (note 13)    1,929  7,427 1,195 9,534
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b))    71,844 129,076 64,854 126,150 
    732,904 622,760 399,404 384,490 

There was no collateral held as security with regards to the above financial assets.
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The table below shows the credit risk concentration at the reporting date:
  
  2022 2021
   %  %
Counterparties:
Four major counterparties  78 84 
Others  22 16
  100 100

 No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit market positions.  The Group/Company aims at maintaining flexibility in 
funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

 Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's/Company's liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash 
flow.

Forecasted liquidity reserve as of June 30, 2023 is as follows:

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2023 2023 
  Rs000's Rs000's
Opening balance  (362,070) (369,060)
Cash generated from operating activities  2,430,812 2,424,069 
Cash used in operating activities  (2,238,752) (2,238,404) 
Cash used in investing activities  (142,746) (142,746)
Cash used in financing activities  (198,112) (198,112)
Closing balance  (510,868) (524,253)

 Management does not foresee any major liquidity risk over the next two years for the Group.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont'd)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (cont'd)
(c) Liquidity risk (cont'd)

The table below analyses the Group’s/Company's non-derivative financial liabilities and net-financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual 
maturity date.

THE GROUP Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over  
  1 year and 2 years and 3 years 3 years 

 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's 

At June 30, 2022
Bank and other borrowings 563,814  -  - 30,000 
Trade and other payables 81,475 -  -  -   
Dividends payable 5,796 -  - -   
Lease liabilities 6,909 5,451 5,033 158,545 
  657,994 5,451 5,033  188,545 

At June 30, 2021
Bank and other borrowings 225,846 -  - 30,000 
Trade and other payables 70,928 -  -  -   
Dividends payable 43,182 -  -  -   
Lease liabilities 7,122 6,909 5,451 163,578 
  347,078  6,909 5,451  193,578 

THE COMPANY

At June 30, 2022
Bank and other borrowings 563,814 -  -     30,000
Trade and other payables 81,305 -  - -
Dividends payable 5,796 -  - - 
Lease liabilities 6,909 5,451 5,033 158,545 
 657,824 5,451 5,033 188,545 

At June 30, 2021
Bank and other borrowings 225,846 -  - 30,000 
Trade and other payables 70,750 -  -  - 
Dividends payable 43,182  -    - -
Lease liabilities 7,122 6,909 5,451 163,578 
  346,900 6,909  5,451 193,578

3.2 Fair value estimates
 The Group/Company designate the majority of its investments at FVOCI as the Group/Company is managed on a 
fair value basis, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income as part of changes in fair 
value of equity instruments at FVOCI.  Fair value is determined in accordance with IFRS 13.  Statement of financial 
position items carried at fair value include investments in equity instruments.

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period.  A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange 
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis.  The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
Group/Company is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.  Instruments included in level 1 
comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified as investments held at FVOCI.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.2 Fair value estimates (cont'd)

 For unquoted investments the Group/Company applies a number of methodologies to determine and assess the 
reasonableness of the fair value which may include the following:
- Earnings multiple
- Net asset value;
- Dividend valuation;
- Discounted cash flow
- Price to book multiple

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on specific estimates.

 If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

 If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. 

 Refer to note 10 for the inputs, assumptions used in the valuation techniques and the fair value hierarchy of the 
Group's/Company's investments measured at fair value.

3.3 Capital risk management
 The Group's/Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's/Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

 The Group/Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.  The Group/Company manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group/Company may adjust the amount 
of  dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistently with others in the industry, the Group/Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt to equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts (as shown in the statement of 
financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Capital comprises all components of equity (i.e share capital, non-
controlling interest, retained earnings and revaluation surplus).

The debt-to-equity ratios at June 30, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2022  2021 2022 2021 
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's

Total debt (note 6 & 17) 666,648  331,343  666,648   331,343 
Less: cash at bank and in hand (note 30(b)) (71,844)  (129,076) (64,854)  (126,150)
  594,404 202,267  601,794  205,193

Total equity 2,112,515 1,899,267  1,891,331 1,784,192
Debt-to-equity ratio 28% 11% 32% 12%

The debt-to-equity ratio has increased in 2022 compared to 2021 as a vessel for wheat has been paid at end of 
June 2022, resulting in a huge outflow of cash (timing difference).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
3.3 Capital risk management (cont'd)

Categories of financial instruments

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's

Financial assets amortised cost
Trade receivables (note 12) 204,502 146,418 204,502 146,418
Other receivables (note 13) 1,929 7,427  1,195 9,534 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 30(b)) 71,844 129,076 64,854 126,150
 278,275 282,921 270,551  282,102
 
Assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity investments 454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388 

Financial liabilities amortised cost
Trade and other payables (note 20)  81,475 70,928 81,305 70,750 
Dividends payable (note 22) 5,796 43,182 5,796 43,182 
Borrowings (note 17) 593,814  255,846 593,814 255,846 
Lease liabilities (note 6) 72,834 75,497 72,834  75,497 
 753,919 445,453 753,749 445,275

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
 Estimates and  judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 The Group/Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of financial assets
 The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Company/group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, 
based on the Company’s/group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the 
end of each reporting period. 

(b) Pension benefits
 The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions.  The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions 
include the discount rate.  Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.  

 The Group/Company determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year.  This is the interest rate that 
should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle 
the pension obligations.  In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group/Company considers the interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and 
that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension obligation.

 Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional  information 
is disclosed in note 18.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT'D)

(c) Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market
When the fair value of investments recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active 
markets, they are determined using valuation techniques (refer to note 10).  The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values.  The judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.  Changes 
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of investments.

(d) Limitation of sensitivity analysis
 Sensitivity analysis, in respect of market risk, demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption while other 
assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should 
also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or 
extrapolated from these results.

 Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Group's/Company's assets and liabilities are managed.  
Other limitations include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent 
the Group's/Company's view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty.

(e) Impairment of assets
 Goodwill is considered for impairment at least annually. Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are 
considered for impairment if there is a reason to believe that impairment may be necessary. Factors taken into 
consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability of the asset itself and where it is a component 
of a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself.

 Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets or cash-generating units are projected, taking into account 
market conditions and the expected useful lives of the assets.  The present value of these cash flows, determined 
using an appropriate discount rate, is compared to the current net asset value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to 
the present value. The impairment loss is first allocated to goodwill and then to the other assets of a cash-generating 
unit.

 Cash flows which are utilised in these assessments are extracted from formal five-year business plans which are 
updated annually. The Group utilises the valuation model to determine asset and cash-generating unit values 
supplemented, where appropriate, by discounted cash flow and other valuation techniques. 

(f) Spare parts
 The Group keeps spare parts on hand to operate its plant and equipment in the production process. Some of the spare 
parts will be used  in less than one period in the normal course of business while others will be used in connection 
with repairs and servicing of property, plant and equipment over more than one period.

 Given the specificity and complexity of the group's production process, the directors have determined that spare 
parts worth Rs 200,000 or more should be capitalised as plant and equipment and depreciated accordingly.  

 As at 30 June 2022, an exercise was carried out to determine spare parts which are connected to specific items of 
property, plant and equipment.  As a result, an amount of Rs 8.9M was subsequently capitalised and depreciated.
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a) THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY - 2022

    Office
 Buildings Flour Mill Sundry Furniture Computers Motor Assets in Total
  Equipment  Equipment and  Vehicles Progress
    Equipment
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's

COST OR VALUATION
At July 1, 2021 862,399  1,143,154  118,635  10,723  14,373  1,882   4,895  2,156,061
Additions 2,119 9,894 4,911 965 1,399 - 33,983 53,271 
Disposals  (46) (17,754) (9,078)  (2,064)  (46)  (1,882)  - (30,870)
Revaluation surplus 45,742 -  - - - -   - 45,742
Transfers 377  2,183 1,811  -  15 -    (4,386) -   
At June 30, 2022 910,591 1,137,477 116,279 9,624 15,741 -  34,492 2,224,204 

DEPRECIATION
At July 1, 2021 383,923 731,833 74,202 10,146 7,442 1,882  - 1,209,428 
Charge for the year 23,530 36,040 6,046 314 3,200 -  - 69,130
Disposal adjustments (27) (17,754) (8,605) (2,062) (46)  (1,882)  -  (30,376)
At June 30, 2022 407,426 750,119 71,643 8,398 10,596 -  - 1,248,182 

NET BOOK VALUE
At June 30, 2022 503,165  387,358 44,636  1,226 5,145 - 34,492 976,022

(b) THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY - 2021

    Office
 Buildings Flour Mill Sundry Furniture Computers Motor Assets in Total
  Equipment  Equipment and  Vehicles Progress
    Equipment
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's

COST OR VALUATION
At July 1, 2020 806,547 922,670  113,882  10,876  8,406  4,801  34,888  1,902,070
Additions 1,232  17,121  2,255  291  6,403   -    9,635  36,937
Disposals -     (15,801) (142)  (444) (436) (2,919)  -     (19,742)
Revaluation surplus 54,620 195,371  2,640   -     -     -     -    252,631
Transfer to
intangible assets - - - -     -     -     (15,835) (15,835)
Transfers  - 23,793   -     -     -      -     (23,793) -
At June 30, 2021 862,399 1,143,154 118,635 10,723 14,373 1,882 4,895  2,156,061

DEPRECIATION         
At July 1, 2020 363,510 612,198  67,780   10,167  6,200  4,801   -     1,064,656 
Charge for the year 20,413 30,070  5,514  422  1,678   -     -    58,097
Disposal adjustments - (14,946) (142) (443)  (436)  (2,919)  -    (18,886)
Revaluation adjustments - 104,511 1,050   -     -     -     -    105,561
At June 30, 2021 383,923 731,833 74,202 10,146 7,442 1,882  - 1,209,428 
       
NET BOOK VALUE
At June 30, 2021 478,476  411,321 44,433 577 6,931  -     4,895 946,633
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
(c)   It is the group policy to revalue the buildings, flour mill equipment and sundry equipment of the Company every 

three years.  Revaluations are done more frequently if there is any indication that the carrying amount differs 
materially from its fair value.  The last full revaluation was carried out at 30 June 2021 and the Company's assets 
were revalued on a depreciated replacement cost basis by: 

 -  Buildings - Mr Vincent d'Unienville BSc, ARICS of V. d'Unienville & Associates Co Ltd, Chartered Quantity 
Surveyors.

 -  Flour mill and sundry equipment - Buhler (Pty) Ltd, a professional supplier of milling plants throughout Africa.

At 30 June 2022, an evaluation was carried out and the valuer estimated that building costs had suffered quite 
considerable increases during the year and subsequently adjusted in the accounts but there were no material impact 
on flour mill and sundry equipment.  

All the buildings, flour mill and sundry equipment are categorised under Level 2. 

The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was credited to revaluation surplus in shareholders' 
equity.

The basis of the valuation was to determine the Current Estimated Replacement Cost of all buildings, structures, 
flour mill and sundry equipment as well as their estimated Depreciated Replacement Cost, that is, current estimated 
cost discounted to date of construction or purchase. It is to be noted that the Depreciated Cost took into account 
depreciation factor, i.e. age and conditions of buildings, flour mill and sundry equipment and obsolescence that may 
affect the value of the said assets.

For buildings and structures, the basis of the evaluation of the Current Value, every three years, is based on a cost 
per m² basis derived from other projects of similar nature at current market rates and prices, as well as first principle 
estimates for elements such as silos, piling, and other uncommon elements of construction.

For flour mill and sundry equipment, the basis of the evaluation is based on new replacement costs received from 
Buhler (Pty) Ltd adjusted to reflect the current useful economic life of the assets which is reviewed by Management, 
if needs be, on a regular basis.

(d)  If the buildings, flour mill and sundry equipment were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be 
as follows:

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
  Flour mill Sundry
 Buildings equipment equipment
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
At June 30, 2022 182,459 300,217  49,018 

At June 30, 2021 184,838 307,263 45,400
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(e) Depreciation expense charged is allocated in profit or loss as follows:

  THE GROUP AND 
  THE COMPANY

 2022 2021
 Rs000's Rs000's 
Cost of sales 60,597 49,961
Administrative expenses 2,504 2,384
Selling and distribution costs  6,029 5,752 
 69,130 58,097

(f) Bank borrowings are secured by floating charges over all the assets of the Company, including property, plant 
and equipment (note 17).

6. LEASES
(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

  THE GROUP AND 
  THE COMPANY

 2022 2021 
  Rs000's Rs000's 

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Land and warehouse  65,428  67,476 
Operating Equipment 1,843 3,793
Motor Vehicles 178 483 
  67,449  71,75

There were no additions to right-of-use assets during the year.

LEASE LIABILITIES
- Current  2,612  2,663 
- Non Current 70,222  72,834 
  72,834 75,497

(ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

  THE GROUP AND
  THE COMPANY

 2022 2021 
 Rs000's Rs000's 

DEPRECIATION CHARGE ON RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Land and warehouse 2,048  2,048 
Operating Equipment 1,950 2,160 
Motor Vehicles 305  305
 4,303 4,513
Interest Expense 4,458 4,626

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was Rs000’s 7,122 (2021: Rs000’s 7,347)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
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(a) THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

  Computer
  Software
  Rs000's

COST
At July 1, 2020   66,275
Transfer from assets in progress (note 5)  15,835
Addition  2,673
Assets written off  (5,204)
At June 30, 2021  79,579 
Addition  3,063 
Assets written off   (219)
At June 30, 2022  82,423 

AMORTISATION
At July 1, 2020  10,065 
Amortisation charge  10,554 
Assets written off  (5,089)
At June 30, 2021  15,530 
Amortisation charge  11,962
Assets written off  (219)
At June 30, 2022  27,273 

NET BOOK VALUE
At June 30, 2022   55,150
At June 30, 2021  64,049 

(b) Amortisation has been charged to profit or loss as follows: 

  THE GROUP AND 
  THE COMPANY

  2022  2021 
 Rs000's Rs000's 
Cost of sales 3,546  2,244 
Administrative expenses 8,416 8,310 
  11,962 10,554 

There are no intangible assets with restricted title and/or pledged as security for liabilities.

8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES - COST
 2022  2021
 Rs000's Rs000's 
At July 1, 334,406  309,467 
Reversal of impairment loss (note 28) -    24,939 
At June 30,  334,406 334,406

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES - COST (CONT'D)  

The list of the Company's subsidiaries is as follows:

    Proportion of
 Class of   Stated  ownership Place of Country of
Name shares held Year end capital interest business incorporation Main business 
   Rs'000 

2022 & 2021
Concordia
Investments Ltd Ordinary June 30 333,568 100% Eclosia Group Mauritius Investment 
     Head-quarters,  holding
     Gentilly, Moka

Amigel Ltd Ordinary June 30 45,000  100% Cargo Peninsula, Mauritius Producer of
     Quay D, Port Louis  unbaked frozen
       products (ceased  
       operations)

9. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
(a) The results of the following associated company have been included in the consolidated financial statements:

       2022 & 2021
      % holding Year end
 Indigo Hotels & Resorts Limited     28.67 June 30

       THE GROUP

       2022 2021
      Rs000's Rs000's 

At July 1,       210,888 212,911
Share of loss for the year      (15,565) (19,214)
Other equity movements      26,944 17,191
      222,267 210,888

 Other equity movements comprise of movement in actuarial reserve, revaluation surplus and fair value reserve.

(b) (i)  Indigo Hotels & Resorts Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius. Its main activity is 
to provide management services to hotels within the Eclosia Group. Its place of business is at Eclosia Group Headquarters, 
Gentilly, Moka.

 (ii) The associated company is accounted for using the equity method. 
 (iii)  The associated company is a private company and there is no quoted market price available for its shares. 
 (iv)  The financial year end date of Indigo Hotels & Resorts Limited is 30 June.

(c)  Summarised financial information
 Summarised financial information in respect of the associate (Indigo Hotels & Resorts Limited) is set out below:

       Other  Total
       comprehensive comprehensive
 Current Non-current Current  Non-current  Post-tax income income
 assets assets liabilities liabilities Revenue loss for the year for the year 
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
2022 305,933  2,909,853 504,969 1,148,158 548,771 (112,254) 93,979  (18,275)
2021 184,723 2,668,122 352,918  1,008,870 237,540  (132,524) 57,190  (75,334)

 The summarised financial information above represents amounts shown in the associate's financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, adjusted for equity accounting purposes such as fair value adjustments made at time of acquisition.
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9. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (CONT'D)  

(d)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
        2022   2021
        Rs000's Rs000's 

 Opening net assets at July 1,      1,491,056 1,528,169
Loss for the year       (112,254) (132,524)
 Other comprehensive income for the year     8,022 20,638
 Other equity movements      (4,966) 3,774 
Revaluation surplus       180,802 70,999
 Closing net assets at June 30,      1,562,660 1,491,056
 Less non-controlling interest in the subsidiaries of the associate     (787,401)  (755,487)
       775,259 735,569
Interest in associate       222,267 210,888

10.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE  
INCOME
(i)  Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
      
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
     2022 2021 2022 2021
     Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's

At July 1,     339,839 276,012 102,388  87,267
Additions     - 11,878 -   - 
 Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income  114,790 51,949 26,465 15,121
At June 30,     454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388

(ii)  Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following:     
      
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
     2022 2021 2022 2021
     Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
Quoted:
Equity securities - [Mauritius]    208,424  171,956 128,853 102,388 
Unquoted:         
Equity securities - [Mauritius]    246,205 167,883 - -  
     454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388

(iii)  Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include the Company's/Group’s strategic equity 
investments not held for trading and debt securities held to collect and sell.  The Company/Group has made an irrevocable 
election to classify the equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss 
because this is considered to be more appropriate for these strategic investments.  In 2017, the Company/Group had designated 
the investments as available-for-sale where management intended to hold them for the medium to long-term.

(iv) The fair value of quoted securities is based on published market prices. The fair value of the unquoted securities are based on 
discounted cash flow and earnings multiple.
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10.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (CONT'D)  
(v)  Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following: 

 Fair Value THE GROUP THE COMPANY
 Hierarchy 2022 2021 2022 2021 
  Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's 

Quoted:
Livestock Feed Ltd 1 128,853  102,388 128,853 102,388 
MCB Group 1 6,806  6,043  -  -
Mauritius Freeport Development Co Ltd 1 72,765 63,525  -  - 
Unquoted:
Premier Logistics Co Ltd 3  92,000  44,000  - -
Premier Education Co Ltd  3 91,200  62,000  -  -
Société Aquarius 3  63,000  61,878  -  -
Mer Rouge Trading Ltd 3 5  5  - -
  454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388

The quoted investments are classified as level 1 while the unquoted investments are classified as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

(vi) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value:
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value 
measurements of the Group:

THE GROUP

 Fair Value
   Valuation Unobservable Relationship
Description 2022 2021 Technique Inputs of unobservable Sensitivity Analysis
     inputs to fair value
 Rs000's Rs000's 

Premier Logistics 92,000 44,000 Earnings Price / Earnings The higher the P/E, A 10% increase in
Co Ltd   Multiple multiple  (P/E) & the higher will be the the P/E, the fair
    Discount for lack fair value of the value will increase
     of marketability investment and vice versa. by Rs 5.0M  
     The higher the discount, (2021: Rs 1.3M)
     the lower the fair value of A 10% increase 
     the investment and in discount, the fair
     vice versa. value will decrease
      by Rs 3.0M  
      (2021: Rs 1.1M)

Premier Education 91,200  62,000 Discounted Expected cash The higher the expected A 10% increase in
Co Ltd   cash flow inflows  cash flows, the higher the expected cash flows 
     fair value and vice versa will increase the fair 
      value by Rs 1.6M   
      (2021: Rs 2.5M)

Société Aquarius 63,000 61,878 Discounted Expected cash The higher the expected A 10% increase in
   cash flow inflows cash flows, the higher the expected cash flows
     fair value and vice versa will increase the fair
      value by Rs 1.0M

Mer Rouge 5 5 Discounted Expected The higher the expected A 10% increase in
Trading Ltd    cash flow cash inflows cash flows, the higher the expected cash flows 
     fair value and vice versa will increase the fair
      value by Rs 500
      (2021: Rs 500)
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10.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (CONT'D)  
 There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.

(vii)  Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets are denominated in the following currencies:  

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's 

Mauritian rupee 454,629 339,839 128,853 102,388

11. INVENTORIES
  THE GROUP AND  
  THE COMPANY

   2022  2021
   Rs000's  Rs000's 

(a) Raw materials    294,718 156,769
Raw materials in transit    619,672 409,591
Finished goods    47,098 23,580
Spare parts / Consumables    74,548 79,003
   1,036,036 668,943

(b) The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in operating expenses amounted to Rs000's 2,119,291 (2021: 
Rs000's 1,548,452) for the Group and the Company.

(c) The bank borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the Group including inventories (note 17).
     

12. TRADE RECEIVABLES

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2022 2021 2022 2021  
 Rs000's Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's

Trade receivables 204,502 146,418 204,502  146,418 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair value.

(i) Impairment of trade receivables 

 The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables.

 To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days 
past due. 

 The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before June 30, 2022 or July 1, 2021 
respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to 
reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables. The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services 
to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 

 No provision has been booked for loss allowance of Rs000's 33 (2021: Rs000's 88) on trade receivables since the amount is 
immaterial.
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12. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)  
(ii) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022 2021 2022 2021
  Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's 

Rupee  40,761 39,552  40,761 39,552 
US Dollar  138,570 81,187 138,570 81,187
Euro  25,171 25,679 25,171  25,679
   204,502  146,418 204,502 146,418 

(iii)  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The 
Group/Company does not hold any collateral as security.

(iv)  In 2022, trade receivables were recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 
    

13. OTHER RECEIVABLES
  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022 2021 2022  2021 
  Rs000's  Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's 

Prepayments and deposits   6,542  8,840  6,542 8,840 
VAT receivable  8,814  3,292 8,814 3,292 
Other receivables   1,207 4,379 1,195 4,208
Receivable from related companies  722  3,048  - 5,326 
  17,285 19,559  16,551 21,666 

 The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair value.

14.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS
(a)   On December 31, 2018, one of the subsidiaries of the Group, Amigel Ltd ceased its operations.  Amigel Ltd entered into a 

process of disposing all its plant and equipment.

(b)  An analysis of the result of discontinued operations, and the result recognised on the re-measurement of assets is as follows:

    2022 2021  
    Rs000's Rs000's 
Expenses     - (6)
Other Income     - -   
Loss for the year from discontinued operations    -  (6)

    2022 2021
    Rs000's  Rs000's
(c) Operating cash flows     - (528)
      Financing cash flows    - 533 
       Total cash flows    -     5 

(d) Non-current assets classified as held for sale

    2022 2021 
    Rs000's Rs000's
Other current asset     - 533
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15. SHARE CAPITAL

16. REVALUATION AND OTHER RESERVES    

 THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

 2022 & 2021

Ordinary shares (issued and fully paid)
Shares of Rs100. each    Rs000's 1,080,000
Number of shares    000's 10,800

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends.

THE GROUP

  Financial
  assets at fair   Actuarial 
  Revaluation value through   Translation Reserve of  losses   
 surplus OCI reserve reserve associates reserves Total
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's

(i) 2022 
At July 1, 2021 159,074  142,748 51,984   35,056 (35,769) 353,093
Gains on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment 45,742  -  -   -  -    45,742 
Income tax on revaluation of
property, plant and equipment (7,776) -  - -  -  (7,776) 
Transfer of excess depreciation on
revaluation of property, plant
and equipment (8,273) -  - -  -  (8,273) 
Remeasurements of defined
benefit obligations  -     -     -     -     2,611  2,611 
Income tax relating to components
of other comprehensive income  -     -     -     -     (444) (444) 
Changes in fair value of equity
instruments at FVOCI -     114,790   -     -     -    114,790  
Share of other comprehensive income
of associate  -     -     -     26,944  -  26,944 
At June 30, 2022 188,767 257,538 51,984 62,000  (33,602) 526,687
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THE GROUP

  Financial
  assets at fair   Actuarial 
  Revaluation value through   Translation Reserve of  losses   
 surplus OCI reserve reserve associates reserves Total
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's

(ii) 2021 
At July 1, 2020 105,536 90,799 51,984 17,865   (30,167) 236,017

Bonus Issue  (65,000)   -     -     -    (65,000)

Gains on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment 147,069  -     -     -     -    147,069 

Income tax on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment  (25,002)  -     -     -     -    (25,002)

Transfer of excess depreciation on
revaluation of property,
plant and equipment (3,529) -     -     -     -     (3,529)

Remeasurements of defined
benefit obligations  -      -     -     (6,750)  (6,750)

Income tax relating to components of
other comprehensive income  -     -     -     -     1,148  1,148

Changes in fair value of equity
instruments at FVOCI  - 51,949   -     -     -    51,949 

Share of other comprehensive income
of associate  -    -  -    17,191   -    17,191 
At June 30, 2021 159,074  142,748  51,984  35,056   (35,769) 353,093 

Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus arises on revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve
Gains/losses arising on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Reserve of associate
The reserve of associate consists of percentage holding of the Group on the revaluation & other reserves of its associate.

Translation reserve     
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations.
 
Actuarial losses reserve
The actuarial losses reserve represents the cumulative remeasurements of defined benefit obligation recognised.

16. REVALUATION AND OTHER RESERVES (CONT'D)    
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16. REVALUATION AND OTHER RESERVES (CONT'D)    
THE COMPANY

    Financial
    assets at fair Actuarial 
   Revaluation value through    losses
   surplus OCI reserve reserves Total
   Rs000's Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's

(i) 2022 
At July 1, 2021   160,552  94,737  (35,179) 220,110 
Gains on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  45,742  -  -    45,742 
Income tax on revaluation of property, plant and equipment   (7,776) -   -  (7,776)
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment    (8,273) -  -  (8,273)
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations    -  - 2,611 2,611
Income tax relating to measurements of defined benefit obligations -  - (444)  (444)
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income   - 26,465 - 26,465 
At June 30, 2022   190,245 121,202 (33,012)  278,435

    Financial
    assets at fair Actuarial 
   Revaluation value through    losses
   surplus OCI reserve reserves Total
   Rs000's Rs000's  Rs000's Rs000's

(ii) 2021 
At July 1, 2020    107,014   79,616  (29,577) 157,053 
Bonus Issue   (65,000) -  -  (65,000)
Gains on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  147,069  -  - 147,069 
Income tax on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  (25,002) -  - (25,002)
Transfer of excess depreciation on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment   (3,529)  -  -   (3,529)
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations    -  -  (6,750)  (6,750)
Income tax relating to measurements of defined benefit obligations -  - 1,148  1,148 
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income    - 15,121  -    15,121 
At June 30, 2021   160,552 94,737  (35,179) 220,110

17. BORROWINGS
  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022 2021 2022 2021
  Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's 

Current
Bank overdrafts   433,914  90,846  433,914   90,846 
Loan from related companies  129,900  135,000 129,900  135,000 
  563,814   225,846 563,814  225,846 

Non current
Preference shares  30,000 30,000 30,000   30,000

(a)  The bank borrowings are secured by floating charges over all the assets of the Group/Company, including 
property, plant and equipment and inventories (notes 5 and 11).

(b) The loan from related companies are unsecured and bears interest up to 2.25% per annum.
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17. BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
(c) The effective interest rates of the loans at the reporting date were as follows:   
 
THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
  2022   2021  
 Rs. USD EUR Rs. USD EUR
 % % % % % %
Bank overdrafts 2.30% - 4.50% 4.62% 3.50% 2.15% - 4.10% 1.59% - 3.59% 3.50%
Loan from related parties 2.25% -     - 1.85%  -    -  

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group's/Company's borrowings are denominated in Mauritian rupees. 

(e)  The holders of the preference shares are entitled to a fixed cumulative dividend of 13% per annum in preference 
to the holders of ordinary shares which is considered as a finance cost.  Any amount paid over and above the 13% 
is considered as dividend.

     
  The 13% cumulative preference shares meets the definition of a liability under the requirements of IAS 32, 

because the instrument includes a contractual obligation to deliver cash to the holder.

  Any balance the Board decides to distribute by way of dividends shall be distributed "pari-passu" per share 
amongst the ordinary and preference shareholders, the latter being entitled to a maximum dividend of 20%.

  The preference shares carry a right to repayment of capital in winding up in priority to the ordinary shares but no 
other rights in respect of dividends, capital and voting.

(f) The carrying amounts of borrowings are not materially different from their fair value.

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
      2022   2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position
Defined pension benefits (note 18(a)(ii))       41,474   53,203 
Other post retirement benefits (note 18(b)(i))       17,864   19,326 
       59,338   72,529 
Analysed as follows:
Non-current liabilities       59,338   72,529 

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY 
      2022   2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
Amount charged to profit or loss:
- Defined pension benefits (note 18(a)(vii))       3,538   3,412 
- Other post retirement benefits (note 18(b)(ii))       1,318   1,434 
- Benefits paid       (1,630)  (3,412)
       3,226   1,434 
Amount charged/(credited) to other comprehensive income
- Defined pension benefits (note 18(a)(ix))       (1,463)  7,763 
- Other post retirement benefits (note 18(b)(iv))       (1,148)  (1,013)
       (2,611)  6,750 
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18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(a) Pension schemes
(i)  The Group/Company contributes and operates a defined benefit pension. The plan is a defined benefit 
arrangement, with benefits based on final salary. It provides for pension at retirement and a benefit on death or 
disablement in service before retirement.        
 
 The assets of the fund are independently administered by The Swan Life Ltd which carries out a full valuation of the 
plan every year.         
 
 The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations was 
carried out at June 30, 2022. The present value of the defined benefit obligations, and the related current service 
cost and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.     
 
(ii)The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
       2022 2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
 Present value of funded obligations (note 18(a)(iv))      73,994   74,256 
Fair value of plan assets (note 18(a)(v))       (32,520)  (21,053)
Liability in the statement of financial position       41,474   53,203 

(iii) The reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability is as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
       2022   2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1,       53,203   44,761 
Charged to profit or loss        3,538  3,412 
(Credited to)/Charged to other comprehensive income       (1,463)  7,763 
Contributions paid       (1,764)  (2,733)
Deficit funding payment       (12,040)  -   
At June 30,       41,474   53,203 

(iv) The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
       2022   2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1,       74,256   91,255 
Current service cost       1,602   1,847 
Interest cost       2,550   1,843 
Contributions by plan participants       534   782 
Actuarial (gains)/ losses       (1,407)  16,481 
Benefits paid       (3,541)  (37,952)
At June 30,       73,994   74,256 

LMLC ANNUAL REPORT 101

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended June 30, 2022



(vi) The fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Cash and cash equivalents  699   1,037 
Equity investments categorised by industry type:  
- Financial  2,484   1,349 
- Commerce  601   385 
- Industry  491   268 
- Investment  1,188   811 
- Leisure & Hotel  371   185 
- Property  396   44 
- Sugar  23   17 
- Transport  -     3 
Debt instruments (categorised by type of issuers, credit quality, geography)
- BBB  7,099   2,808 
- Not rated  9,782   6,323 
Investment funds  9,386   7,823 
  32,520   21,053 

(vii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Current service cost  1,602   1,847 
Interest cost  1,657   1,208 
Scheme expenses  -     -   
Cost of insuring risk benefits  279   357 
Net periodic pension cost per IAS 19  3,538   3,412 

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT'D)
(a) Pension schemes(cont'd)

(v) The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows: 

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1,  21,053   46,494 
Expected return on plan assets  893   635 
Actuarial losses  55   3,529 
Cost of insuring risk benefits  (279)  (357)
Employer contributions  1,764   2,735 
Employee contributions  535   782 
Deficit funding payment  12,040   -   
Transfer from Group Company  -     5,189 
Benefits paid  (3,541)  (37,954)
At June 30,  32,520   21,053 
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(viii) The actual return on plan assets are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
 2022 2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Actual return on plan assets  948   4,164 

(ix) The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Remeasurements on the defined benefit liability:
Gains on pension scheme assets  (55)  (3,529)
Liability experience losses  (577)  16,248 
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in assumptions
underlying the present value of the scheme  (831)  233 
Transfer from Group Company  -     (5,189)
  (1,463)  7,763 

(x) The assets in the plan and the expected rate of return are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Cash and cash equivalents  550   842 
Fixed income 16,651   9,685 
Local Equities  5,634   2,947 
Overseas Equities  9,685   7,579 
Total Market value of assets  32,520   21,053 
 
(xi) The weighted average duration of the liabilities as at June 30, 2022 is 6 years.

(xii) Sensitivity analysis on defined pension benefit obligations at end of the reporting date:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Increase in Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% decrease in discount rate  4,364   1,417 
Decrease in Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% increase in discount rate  3,870   9,707 
Increase in the Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% increase  
in future long-term salary assumption  3,711   1,453
Decrease in the Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% decrease  
in future long-term salary assumption  3,968   9,735
  
(xiii)  Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending  June 30, 2022 are Rs000's 7,126.

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT'D)
(a) Pension schemes(cont'd)
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18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT'D)
(a) Pension schemes (cont'd)

(b) Other post retirement benefits

 Other post retirement benefits comprise of gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers Rights Act 2019.

(i) The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Present value of unfunded obligations - Deficit  17,864   19,326 

(ii)  The reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability is as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1, 19,327   19,582 
Charged to profit or loss -     1,315   1,434 
Credited to other comprehensive income  (1,148)  (1,013)
Benefits paid  (1,630)  (677)
At June 30,  17,864   19,326 

(iii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Current service cost  694   771 
Past service cost  -     88 
Service cost  694   859 
Net interest cost  621   575 
Net periodic pension cost per IAS 19  1,315   1,434 
Benefits paid  (1,630)  (677)
Total included in employee benefit expense  (315)  757 

(xiv) The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
 % %
Discount rate 3.6% 3.1%
Future salary increases 2.0% 2.0%
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(iv)The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Remeasurement on the defined benefit liability:
Losses / (gains) on pension scheme assets   (2,092)  155 
Liability experience losses / (gains)  1,138   (550)
Actuarial gains arising from changes in assumptions  (194)  (618)
  (1,148)  (1,013)

(v) Amounts for the current period are as follows:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 

Present value of defined benefit obligations  17,864   19,326 
Experience gains / (losses) on plan liabilities  (444) 1,258

(vi) The principal actuarial assumptions used for the accounting purposes were:

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
 2022  2021 
  %   % 
Discount rate 3.6% - 4.8%  3.4% - 4.9% 
Future salary increases 2.0% 2.0%

(vii) The weighted average duration of the liabilities as at June 30, 2022 is between 11-15 years.

(viii) Sensitivity analysis on other post retirement benefit obligations at end of the reporting date: 

 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
 2022  2021
 Rs000's   Rs000's
Increase in Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% decrease in discount rate 17,851  20,540 
Decrease in Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% increase in discount rate 14,303  16,212 
Increase in the Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% increase in future
long-term salary assumption 17,857  20,536
Decrease in the Defined Benefit Obligation due to 1% decrease in future 
long-term salary assumption 14,354 16,260 

 An increase/decrease of 1% in other principal actuarial asssumptions would not have a material impact on other post 
retirement benefit obligations at the end of the reporting period.

 The sensitivity above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the net post retirement 
benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. 
The present value of the other retirement defined obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit 
method.

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT'D)
(b) Other post retirement benefits (cont'd)
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18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT'D)  
(b) Other post retirement benefits (cont'd)

 The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the post retirement benefit obligation as it 
is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may 
be correlated.

 There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior periods.

(c)  Risks associated with the plans

The defined benefits and other post retirement benefit plans expose the Group/Company to actuarial risks, such as 
interest rate, salary increase, mortality, longevity, withdrawal and liquidity risks. 

-  Interest rate – this is the risk that yields on Government Bonds and Treasury Bills decrease, leading to an increase in 
the provision required to be set aside for the benefits.

-  Salary increase – the risk is that actual salary increases are higher than assumed, thereby leading to a shortfall in 
benefit provisions already set aside.

-  Mortality – higher than expected death will expose the company to having to effect pay-outs that were not expected.
-  Longevity – employees living longer than expected will expose the employer to the risk that more employees make 

it to retirement to claim their benefits while the provisions assume that fewer employees will live till retirement.
- Withdrawal risk – lower than expected withdrawal will have the same impact as longevity risk.
-  Liquidity risk – this risk arises if the employer’s actual net cashflows are not sufficient to pay for the gratuity benefit 

when it becomes due

The funding requirements are based on the pension fund's actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding 
policies of the plans.

19. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at 17% (2021 : 17%).

(a) There is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority on the same entity.  The 
following amounts are shown in the statements of financial position:

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   2022   2021   2022   2021 
   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Deferred tax assets (22,467) (25,163) (22,467)  (25,163)
Deferred tax liabilities 207,518 197,371 207,518  197,371 
  185,051 172,208 185,051  172,208 
Disclosed as follows:    
Deferred tax liabilities  185,051   172,208   185,051   172,208 
  185,051   172,208   185,051   172,208

(b) The movement on the deferred income tax is as follows:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1,  172,208   147,390   172,208   147,390 
Charged to other comprehensive income  8,220   23,854   8,220   23,854 
Charged to profit or loss (note 21(b))  4,623   964   4,623   964 
At June 30,  185,051   172,208   185,051   172,208
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19. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT'D)
(c)  The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting 

of balances within the same fiscal authority on the same entity is as follows:

(i) Deferred tax assets 
   
THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

 Retirement 
 Benefit 
 Obligations Leases Total
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
At June 30, 2020  10,938   13,296   24,234 
Charged to other comprehensive income  1,148   -     1,148 
Credited to profit or loss  243   (462)  (219)
At June 30, 2021  12,329   12,834   25,163 
Charged to other comprehensive income  (444)  -     (444)
Charged to profit or loss  (1,799)  (453)  (2,252)
At June 30, 2022  10,086   12,381   22,467

(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

 Accelerated
 tax Revaluation
 depreciation of assets Leases Total
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
At June 30, 2020  79,037   79,622   12,965  171,624 
Charged to other comprehensive income  -     25,002   -     25,002 
Charged / (credited) to profit or loss  2,235   (723)  (767)  745 
At June 30, 2021  81,272   103,901   12,198   197,371 
Charged to other comprehensive income  -     7,776  -  7,776 
Charged to profit or loss  3,102   -     (731)  2,371 
At June 30, 2022  84,374   111,677   11,467   207,518

(d)   Where a Company is engaged in the export of goods, it is liable to income tax at the rate of 3% on the chargeable 
income attributable to that export.    
 

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Trade payables  41,757   31,574   41,757   31,574 
Accrued expenses  23,484   14,827   23,332   14,698 
Amounts due to related parties  11,607   14,607   11,592   14,558 
Other payables  5,362   6,020   5,359   6,020 
Interest payable on preference shares  -     3,900   -     3,900 
  82,210   70,928   82,040   70,750

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.
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21. TAXATION
(a) Statement of financial position    
    
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
At July 1,  8,233   23,024   8,201   22,966 
Current income tax on the adjusted profit for the year 
at 3%/15% (2021: 3%/15%)  425   24,293   423   24,270 
Corporate social responsibility tax  2,044   4,944   2,044   4,941 
Less: paid during the year  (17,090)  (44,640)  (17,063)  (44,583)
Underprovision 14  612   14   607 
At June 30,  (6,374)  8,233   (6,381)  8,201

 The Group is taxed at the normal rate of 15% and for exports at the rate of 3% as per current legislation.

(b) Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Current income tax on the adjusted profit for the year
at 3%/15% (2021: 3%/15%)  425   24,293   423  24,270 
Corporate social responsibility tax  2,044   4,944   2,044   4,941 
Movement in deferred taxation (note 19)  4,623   964   4,623   964 
Underprovision  14   612   14   607 
  7,106   30,813   7,104   30,782 

(c)  The tax on the Group's/Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the basic tax rate of the Group/Company as follows:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 

Profit before taxation  72,987   208,121   82,145   248,325 

Tax calculated at 3%/15% (2021: 3%/15%) 13,645  35,358   11,267   34,766 
Corporate social responsibility tax  2,044   4,944   2,044   4,941 
Income not subject to tax (2,792)  (991)  (357)  (372)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  7,790   1,146   7,731   1,096 
Investment tax credit for the year  (13,595)  (10,256)  (13,595)  (10,256)
Underprovision  14   612   14   607 
Tax charge  7,106   30,813   7,104   30,782
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22. DIVIDENDS PAYABLE
 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY

   2022   2021 
   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Statement of financial position
At July 1,   43,182   43,130 
Dividend declared   34,500   39,900 
Dividend paid   (71,886)  (39,848)
At June 30,   5,796   43,182

23.  OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENT 
IN SUBSIDIARY

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Operating profit is arrived at after:
Charging:
Depreciation on property,
plant and equipment (note 5)  69,130   58,097   69,130   58,097 
Depreciation on rights-of-use assets (note 6)  4,303   4,513   4,303   4,513 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7)  11,962   10,554   11,962   10,554 
Employee benefit expense (note 23(a))  100,746   93,086   100,746   93,086 

(a) Employee benefit expense

 THE GROUP AND
 THE COMPANY

   2022   2021 
   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Wages and salaries   89,975   82,500 
Social security costs   5,915   5,740 
Pension cost: 
- Defined benefit obligation   3,538   3,412 
- Defined contribution plan    1,318   1,434 
   100,746   93,086

24. REVENUE  
 The following is an analysis of the Group's and the Company's revenue for the year:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
 Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Revenue from the sale of goods  2,627,686   2,108,812   2,627,686   2,108,812 
Others  6,744   4,129   -     -   
  2,634,430   2,112,941   2,627,686   2,108,812 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022  2021 
  Rs000's  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 2,634,430   2,112,941   2,627,686   2,108,812
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25. EXPENSES BY NATURE

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Depreciation (note 5)  69,130   58,097   69,130   58,097 
Depreciation on rights-of-use assets (note 6)  4,303   4,513   4,303   4,513 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7)  11,962   10,554   11,962   10,554 
Employee benefit expense (note 23(a))  100,746   93,086   100,746   93,086 
Cost of inventories recognised as expense (note 11(b))  2,119,291   1,548,452   2,119,291   1,548,452 
Direct expenses (electricity, water, diesel and consumables)  40,830   39,333   40,830   39,333 
Export expenses  35,964   17,349   35,964   17,349 
Repairs and maintenance  22,136   22,045   22,136   22,045 
Write off of obsolete spare parts  4,246   -     4,246   -   
Depreciation of spare parts  8,881   -     8,881   -   
Advertising costs  9,160   9,195   9,160   9,195 
Management fees  36,788   29,523   36,788   29,523 
Other expenses  72,547   58,943   72,196   58,601 
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution,
and administrative expenses  2,535,984   1,891,090   2,535,633   1,890,748 

Represented by:
Cost of sales  2,374,353   1,744,333   2,374,353   1,744,333 
Selling and distribution costs  33,399   32,432   33,399   32,432 
Administrative expenses  128,232   114,325   127,881   113,983 
  2,535,984   1,891,090   2,535,633   1,890,748 

26. OTHER INCOME
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Dividend income (DEM Quoted)  2,153   2,327   2,153   2,327 
Sundry income  3,264   3,698   3,264   3,698 
  5,417   6,025   5,417   6,025 

27. FINANCE INCOME / (COSTS)
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
(a) Finance income
- Foreign exchange gain  117   14,558   117   14,558 
- Interest income  14   41   -     -   
  131   14,599   117   14,558 
(b) Finance costs
- Bank overdrafts  (3,712)  (2,871)  (3,712)  (2,871)
- Related party loan  (3,372)  (3,743)  (3,372)  (3,864)
- Interest on preference shares  (3,900)  (3,900)  (3,900)  (3,900)
- Rights-of-use assets  (4,458)  (4,626)  (4,458)  (4,626)
  (15,442)  (15,140)  (15,442)  (15,261)
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28.  NET IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENT

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Reversal of impairment of investment in 
Concordia Investments Ltd  -     -     -     24,939 
  -     -     -      24,939 

The impairment loss on the investment in CIL had been completely reversed at 30 June 2021.

29. EARNINGS PER SHARE
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

   2022   2021   2022   2021 
Profit attributable to equity holders Rs000's 65,881  177,302  75,041  217,543 
Less: preference share dividends Rs000's  (2,100)  (2,100)  (2,100)  (2,100)
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders Rs000's  63,781   175,202   72,941   215,443 
Number of ordinary shares
- in issue 000's  10,800   10,800   10,800   10,800 
Earnings per share Rs.  5.91   16.22   6.75   19.95 

30. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
(a) Cash generated from/(absorbed by) operations 
Profit before taxation  72,987   208,121   82,145   248,325 
Adjustments for:
Loss on discontinued operations  -     (6)  -     -   
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 5)  69,130   58,097   69,130   58,097 
Depreciation on rights-of-use assets (note 6)  4,303   4,513   4,303   4,513 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7)  11,962   10,554   11,962   10,554 
Assets written off (note 5, 7)  (3)  861   (3)  861 
Reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiary  -     -     -     (24,939)
Provision for retirement benefit obligations (note 18)  3,226   1,434   3,226   1,434 
Interest income  (14)  (41)  -     -   
Dividend income  (2,153)  (2,327)  (2,153)  (2,327)
Interest expense (note 27)  15,442   15,140   15,442   15,261 
Net foreign exchange loss/ (gain)  1,449   (11,559)  1,449   (11,559)
Share of loss of associate  15,565   19,214   -     -   
Changes in working capital
- inventories  (367,093)  (10,249)  (367,093)  (10,249)
- trade and other receivables  (57,606)  (25,347)  (55,298)  (28,532)
- trade and other payables  11,282   21,371   11,290   21,325 
Cash (absorbed by)/generated from operations  (221,523)  289,776   (225,600)  282,764 
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30. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)
(b) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of the statements of cash flows:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Cash in hand and at bank  71,844   129,076   64,854   126,150 
Bank overdrafts (note 17)  (433,914)  (90,846)  (433,914)  (90,846)
  (362,070)  38,230   (369,060)  35,304 

(c) Net debt reconciliation 

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Cash in hand and at bank  71,844   129,076   64,854   126,150 
Borrowings (including overdraft)  (593,814)  (255,846)  (593,814)  (255,846)
Lease liabilities  (72,834)  (75,497)  (72,834)  (75,497)
Net debt  (594,804)  (202,267)  (601,794)  (205,193)

THE GROUP

      Cash/Cash   
 Borrowings Leases Equivalent Total
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Net debt as at July 1, 2020  (248,500)  (78,218)  (23,191)  (349,909)
- Cash flows
 Payment of medium-term borrowings  608,500   -     -     608,500 
 Proceeds from medium-term borrowings  (525,000)  -     -     (525,000)
 IFRS 16 lease principal repayments  -     2,721   -     2,721 
 Increase in cash and cash equivalents  -     -     49,862   49,862 
- Foreign exchange adjustment  -     -     11,559   11,559 
Net debt as at June 30, 2021  (165,000)  (75,497)  38,230   (202,267)
- Cash flows
 Payment of medium-term borrowings  580,700   -     -     580,700 
 Proceeds from medium-term borrowings  (575,600)  -     -     (575,600)
 IFRS 16 lease principal repayments  -     2,663   -     2,663 
 Increase in cash and cash equivalents  -     -     (398,851)  (398,851)
- Foreign exchange adjustment  -     -     (1,449)  (1,449)
Net debt as at June 30, 2022  (159,900)  (72,834)  (362,070)  (594,804)
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30. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)
(c) Net debt reconciliation (cont'd)

THE COMPANY

   Cash/Bank 
  Borrowings   Leases   overdraft   Total 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Net debt as at July 1, 2020  (256,000)  (78,218)  (23,373)  (357,591)
- Cash flows
 Payment of medium-term borrowings  632,500   -     -     632,500 
 Proceeds from medium-term borrowings  (541,500)  -     -     (541,500)
 IFRS 16 lease principal repayments  -     2,721   -     2,721 
 Increase in cash and cash equivalents  -     -     47,118   47,118 
- Foreign exchange adjustment  -     -     11,559   11,559 
Net debt as at June 30, 2021  (165,000)  (75,497)  35,304   (205,193)
- Cash flows
 Payment of medium-term borrowings  580,700   -     -     580,700 
 Proceeds from medium-term borrowings  (575,600)  -     -     (575,600)
 IFRS 16 lease principal repayments  -     2,663   -     2,663 
 Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  -     -     (402,915)  (402,915)
- Foreign exchange adjustment  -     -     (1,449)  (1,449)
Net debt as at June 30, 2022  (159,900)  (72,834)  (369,060)  (601,794)

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

THE GROUP 

 Purchase   Amount   Amount 
 of goods Sale of   owed to  owed by
  and  goods and Loans related Loans related
 services  services payable companies receivable companies
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
(i)  2022 
Majority shareholders  14,600   137,910   -     2,656   -     19,194 
Minority shareholders  25,722   -     96,500   1,105   -     -
Enterprise with common directors  79,563   127,868   33,400   7,846   -     11,974 
  119,885   265,778   129,900   11,607   -     31,168 

(ii)  2021 
Majority shareholders  10,710   121,777   -     860  -  13,736 
Minority shareholders  24,767   -     75,500   6,297   - -
Enterprise with common directors  59,561   111,495   59,500   7,450   -     5,233 
  95,038   233,272   135,000   14,607   -     18,969 

LMLC ANNUAL REPORT 113

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended June 30, 2022



THE COMPANY 

 Purchase   Amount   Amount 
 of goods Sale of   owed to  owed by
  and  goods and Loans related Loans related
 services  services payable companies receivable companies
 Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's Rs000's
       
(i)  2022 
Majority shareholders  14,600   137,910   -     2,656   -     19,194 
Minority shareholders  25,722   -     96,500   1,105   -     -   
Enterprise with common directors  79,361   127,868   33,400   7,831   -     11,974 
  119,683   265,778   129,900   11,592   -     31,168 

(ii)  2021 
Majority shareholders  10,710   121,777   -     860   -     13,736 
Minority shareholders  24,767   -     75,500   6,297   -     -   
Subsidiary companies -  -     -     -     3,000   -   
Enterprise with common directors  59,334   111,495   59,500   7,401   -     5,233 
  94,811   233,272   135,000   14,558   3,000   18,969 

(c)  The above transactions have been made at arm's length, on normal commercial terms and in the normal course 
of business.

 The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal prices. Outstanding balances at the year-end are 
unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash.

There has been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

(d)  For the year ended 2022, the Group/Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to 
amounts owed by the related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the 
financial position of the related parties and the market in which they operate.

(e) Key management personnel remuneration

 THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

       2022   2021 
       Rs000's   Rs000's 
Salaries and short-term employee benefits       13,188   12,606 

32. COMMITMENTS  
(a) Capital commitments        
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting year but not yet incurred equals to Rs 43M.

(b) Lease commitments - where the company is the lessee 
 The Company leases land under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation 
clauses and renewal rights.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)  Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée's reportable segments, which are those reported to the Board, are the operating 
businesses overseen by management teams responsible for their performance. All reportable segments derive their 
revenue from a single business activity, which is the milling of wheat and its main products, wheat flour and wheat bran.

(b) Segment results
 THE GROUP

  2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's 
Total segment revenue  2,634,430   2,112,941 

Operating profit before reversal of impairment of investment in subsidiary  103,863   227,876 
Finance income  131   14,599 
Finance costs  (15,442)  (15,140)
Share of loss of associate  (15,565)  (19,214)
Profit before taxation  72,987   208,121 
Income tax expense  (7,106)  (30,813)
Profit for the year  65,881   177,308 

(c) Geographical information  Revenue   Non-current assets 

  2022   2021   2022   2021 
  Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's   Rs000's 
Mauritius  2,352,880   1,930,911   1,775,517   1,633,161 
Comores  81,108   38,541   -     -   
Madagascar  31,908   17,242   -     -   
Mayotte  75,163   69,377   -     -   
Reunion  22,888   33,296   -     -   
Seychelles  70,483   20,096   -     -   
Vietnam  -     3,478   -     -   
  2,634,430   2,112,941   1,775,517   1,633,161 

(d)  Revenue from a single customer of Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée represents approximately Rs000's 1,973,039 
(2021: Rs000's 1,617,399) of the Group's total revenue.
  
 The Company actively monitors and maintains a good working relationship with the single customer. There has been 
no disruption in the supply chain and the delivery of goods to this customer has been running smoothly over the 
years.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Bank Guarantees
 At June 30, 2022, the Group/Company had contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees and other 
matters arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities would arise. 
The Group had given guarantees in the ordinary course of business, totalling to Rs000's 76,461 (2021: Rs000's 
85,417).

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no subsequent events after the reporting period.
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